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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2020 2019 +/(-)
HK$’million HK$’million Change

    

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Revenue 937 1,058 (11.5%)
Gross profit margin (%) 47.4% 49.3%

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent 54 (239) N/A
Net profit margin (%) 5.8% N/A

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS
Cash and cash equivalents 364 554 (34.3%)
Net current assets 493 400 23.3%
Total assets 1,516 1,509 0.4%
Total liabilities 469 568 (17.4%)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings – 107 (100%)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 1,046 941 11.2%

Current ratio (times) 2.21 1.78
Gearing ratio – 0.11
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents) 4.5 (19.9)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PERFORMANCE
The Group reported a profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 of approximately HK$53.9 million (year ended 31 
December 2019: loss of HK$238.8 million). The Group’s turnover for the current year decreased by 11.5% to HK$936.5 
million (year ended 31 December 2019: HK$1,058.4 million) due to the delay in completion of certain systems integration 
contracts and decrease in demand of font library and printing products under the impact of COVID-19 pandemic. Gross profit 
for the current year decreased by 14.9% to HK$443.9 million compared with last year’s HK$521.6 million. Gross profit ratio 
decreased from 49.3% for the last year to 47.4% for the current year as a result of decrease in proportion of sales of font library 
business with higher gross profit margin.

The profit for the year was mainly the net results of:

a.	 a decrease in the gross profit by 14.9% to approximately HK$443.9 million (year ended 31 December 2019: 
HK$521.6 million);

b.	 impairment of loan receivables of approximately HK$436.1 million in prior year (year ended 31 December 2020: Nil) 
mainly due to default in entrusted loans to 北大方正集團有限公司 (Peking University Founder Group Company Limited*) 
(“Peking Founder”), a substantial shareholder of the Company;

c.	 a decrease in other income and gains by 30.0% to HK$66.1 million (year ended 31 December 2019: HK$94.4 
million) attributable to the decrease in other interest income as a result of decline in the interests from entrusted loans due 
to certain defaults;

d.	 a decrease in total selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses by 14.0% to HK$285.4 million (year 
ended 31 December 2019: HK$332.0 million) as a result of strict control on expenses imposed by the management; 
and

e.	 a decrease in tax credit by HK$109.0 million to HK$1.7 million (year ended 31 December 2019: HK$110.7 million) as 
a result of decline in deferred tax effect on impairment of entrusted loan receivables.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year was HK4.5 cents (year ended 31 December 2019: loss of HK19.9 cents).

OPERATING REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Operating Review
Font Library Business
Against the backdrop that China is vigorously propelling cultural creative industries, the value of fonts has been recognized by 
more and more enterprises and the public. Meanwhile, with increasingly intense competition in the industry, new font design 
companies and individual font designers came into the font library market one after another. In 2020, to cope with fierce 
domestic and overseas competition as well as the exceptional effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, Founder font library has made 
a number of attempts in terms of marketing methods:

1)	 Font library copyright aspect: As a leading enterprise in the field of copyright, 北大方正電子有限公司 (Beijing Founder 
Electronics Co., Ltd.*) (”Founder Electronics”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was recognized as a 
“National Copyright Demonstration Unit” by the National Copyright Administration. It organized a charitable activity by 
launching the “free authorized fonts for fighting COVID-19” (抗疫宣傳免費授權字體) to the public during the pandemic, 
which was included in the “Copyright Gift Set for Fighting COVID-19” (抗疫版權大禮包) of the Capital Copyright Industry 
Alliance. The judgment for the suit against the “Fonts Web” (字體網) filed by Founder Electronics for its infringement of our 
copyright of the font library came into effect. It was ruled that the unauthorized downloading of Founder fonts provided by 
the “Fonts Web” constituted an infringement of copyright, which has become a typical reference case for the protection of 
copyright of fonts.
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2)	 Font design aspect: In 2020, the digitalization of classic calligraphy from different dynasties has become our priority in 
font design. Founder Electronics launched 15 exquisite Chinese font libraries, including the “Yan Zhenqing-style Regular 
Script Font (顏真卿楷書)”, “Liu Gongquan-style Regular Script Font (柳公權楷書)” and “Su Shi-style Semi-cursive Script Font 
(蘇軾行書)”. Based on the preference of young users and market demand, it designed dozens of creative handwriting 
fonts, such as the “Flying Glimpse Font (驚鴻體)” and the “Energetic Yan Zhenqing-style Font (勁顏體)”. It also worked 
with “Hakusyu Font”, which is a renowned Japanese creative handwriting font library. By joining hands with the famous 
Japanese font library company Fontworks, Founder developed the Chinese version of its classic Japanese fonts and rolled 
out 41 fonts under cooperation so far. In addition, it collaborated with niche font companies, such as Black[Foundry] and 
Cadson Demak, for the first time to introduce over 100 new fonts for Thai, Greek and other minority languages. In 2020, 
Founder Electronics added 321 fonts to its product portfolio, which now comprises 2,339 Chinese fonts in different 
encodings.

	 Furthermore, as enterprises increasingly recognized the importance of exclusive fonts in brand promotion, our customized 
font business grew significantly. In 2020, the font customization team of Founder font library provided services for 12 
well-known customers from a wide range of industries, which included JD.com, Coca-Cola China, the Chinese Football 
Association Super League, Changan Auto, vivo and the One Foundation.

3)	 Font design technology aspect: A breakthrough in AI-assisted font design technology was achieved. Leveraging artificial 
intelligence, we ensured font quality and improved the development efficiency of key design projects, such as the “Exquisite 
Chinese Font Library Project (中華精品字庫工程)” and other font customization projects. Keeping pace with globalization, 
we strengthened the research and development and the application of variable font technology. To fully explore the use 
of this cutting-edge technology, we launched 12 different styles of variable fonts in 2020, which included the “Founder 
Variable Creative Gothic Font (方正可變創黑)”, “Founder Variable Rounded Gothic Font (方正可變嘟黑)” and “Founder 
Variable Elegant Song-style Regular Script Font (方正可變風雅楷宋)”.

4)	 Marketing and service aspect: On the basis of consolidating and expanding the cooperation with major corporate 
customers, Founder Electronics continued to scale up targeted marketing, increased collaboration with design companies 
and advertising firms, and enhanced the influence of its “Love-dynamic Font (心動字體)” service model. It also pushed 
forward the establishment of the comprehensive three-in-one service system comprising the official website of Founder font 
library, “Font + (字加)” mobile APP and “Font +” PC client end.

5)	 Promotion aspect: Taking into account pandemic control and prevention, Founder Electronics made its first attempt in 
brand promotion through online streaming. In 2020, it held 8 live streams on Bilibili, with a peak viewer count exceeding 
100,000 for each session. Combining online and offline means, Founder Electronics live-streamed the launch ceremony 
of “Beauty in Chinese Calligraphy-Exquisite Chinese Font Library Project Charity Program (字美中華－中華精品字庫
工程公益應用計劃)” on Xinhuanet, Douyu and Bilibili, which attracted an online audience of more than 1.3 million. It 
also broadcasted the “Founder Font Design Convention 2020 (方正2020字體設計大會)” live on Weibo, where over 4 
million viewers joined the annual event via online and offline channels.

The above measures enhanced the professional image and industry-leading position of Founder font library. At the same time, 
they raised public awareness of our young and international brand. The increasing recognition and appreciation for Founder font 
library will lay a solid foundation for its future innovation and development.

Printing Business
The printing industry of China has entered a new window period of transformation and development, as well as new opportunity 
nurturing. Following the direction of development of the printing industry in a manner of “environmentalization, digitalization, 
intellectualization and integration” proposed in the 13th Five-Year Plan, the printing industry has adhered to the principle of 
integrity and innovation, in order to promote technological advancement and accelerate digital transformation and upgrade of 
the industry, with a view to facilitating high-quality industry development on an ongoing basis. Facing the new situation and the 
impact of the pandemic, the competent authority of the printing industry has proposed to “nurture new opportunity in difficulties 
and open new doors amid changes”, with a view to taking initiative in industry development by giving guidance in turning 
obstacles into opportunities.
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As a representative enterprise manufacturing printing equipment and providing general software and hardware solutions in China, 
北京方正印捷數碼技術有限公司 (Beijing Founder EasiPrint Digital Technical Co., Ltd.*) (”Founder EasiPrint”), the wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company, has captured the opportunity arising from the transformation of the printing industry by building cultural 
confidence of national brands and insisting on innovative strategies, thereby fully leveraging its strength of in-house research and 
development in printing technology accumulated since the times of Wang Xuan. Together with its sharp industry insight, Founder 
EasiPrint has made strenuous efforts in the market of high-speed inkjet printing.

For printing companies and the media, 2019 was the first year of high-speed inkjet printing for China. High-speed inkjet printing 
has broken through the market limitation of publishing and printing, which was originally and mainly subject to demand, and has 
been promoted and applied to different extents in the fields of commercial printing and digital fast printing. The Founder EagleJet 
P5600 and P4400 high-speed inkjet printers launched by Founder EasiPrint have become the market pioneers and leading 
products in this wave of inkjet printing. These models are able to ensure quality and stability while reducing the manufacturing 
cost and daily operation cost of high-speed inkjet printing, so as to build an ecosystem of inkjet printing, thereby helping printing 
enterprises realize profits with the use of high-speed inkjet printing equipment. According to the investigation of industry media, 
the domestic market share of Founder EagleJet high-speed inkjet printing equipment is over 50% now, indicating that it is well 
recognized by its users and the market.

1)	 Marketing aspect: In 2020, the printing industry was affected to a certain extent due to the sudden outbreak of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. In spite of it, Founder EasiPrint has adopted a prudent approach on its printing business and 
devoted strenuous efforts in the improvement of its capabilities and enhancement of technologies and products since its 
resumption of business in mid-February. Starting from late April 2020, equipment sales and installation orders began to 
grow steadily when the pandemic was still severe. From August 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was slowing down in 
China and the market demand for new printing equipment rallied. With excellent printing quality, efficient and green 
production process, outstanding stability, and extensive sales and service network across the country, our black and white 
inkjet printers in the Founder EagleJet P series maintained the leading position in the domestic market of high-speed inkjet 
printing equipment.

2)	 Product research and development aspect: In 2020, Founder EasiPrint has continued to invest in the research and 
development of inkjet printing technology and smart production system. It has made efforts in the research and 
development of Founder EagleJet high-speed inkjet production line, in order to enrich the product pipelines on an ongoing 
basis. In the second half of 2020, our products covered low-end and normal black and white printing to high-end and 
exquisite colour printing. On top of variable inkjet digital product series, Founder EasiPrint launched new equipment to 
satisfy market demands for high-speed coding, thereby further consolidating and developing its position in the variable 
coding market. Founder EasiPrint has enhanced and expanded its digital printing capability in the government printing 
market by supporting domestic operation systems and upgrading two-colour machines. It has also cooperated with 
domestic and international companies by adopting the open software strategy, so as to maximize the core value of 
Founder software and significantly increase the market share. In addition, with further promotion of the Founder Yunshu 
Cloud Platform for Books and Periodicals Production (方正雲舒書刊製作雲平台) among publishing press and continuous 
enhancement of production management tools and software, Founder EasiPrint will gradually establish a complete 
ecosystem in the fields of books and commercial printing to form an integrated competitive edge. In late August 2020, 
Founder EasiPrint officially introduced the high-speed inkjet printer in the Founder EagleJet Colour Inkjet P6600 series. 
This model supported printing widths of 440 mm, 560 mm and 660 mm in one to six colours, which can be chosen 
and combined freely by users to meet the requirements of diverse types of colour-print products for commercial, publishing 
and high-speed printing purposes. Besides, it greatly outperformed other similar digital printing equipment in the market in 
terms of total consumable costs and selling price.
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3)	 Marketing aspect: Given the impact of the pandemic, printing and packaging exhibitions and information exchange 
activities nationwide were delayed or even cancelled in the first half of the year. Online exhibitions and live streaming 
have become common in the industry. Founder EasiPrint has rapidly responded to the changes in relation to the 
marketing environment. It was the first to conduct special live streaming regarding high-speed inkjet digital printing. It 
has also created a new account called “Founder EasiPrint” on TikTok and initiated the online evaluation of “Hardcore 
Captain of Founder EagleJet (方正桀鷹硬核機長)”. The phase “Founder EasiPrint” was mentioned 710,000 times and 
more than 105,000 thumbs-up were received. This innovative way of interaction allowed Founder EasiPrint to build a 
close relationship with users and increase market penetration, which effectively tackled marketing difficulties during the 
pandemic and represented a successful attempt for building soft power of enterprises in post-pandemic times. In October 
2020, Founder Electronics joined the 8th All in Print China as a key participant, where it introduced its latest colour inkjet 
printing solution, namely the Founder EagleJet colour inkjet printer. At the same time, it commenced the “Smart Printing 
Program (智印計劃)”. By combining the core software and hardware capability as well as the innovation outputs of 
Founder Electronics, the program empowered the mutual growth and high-quality sustainable development of the printing 
industry. In December 2020, Founder Electronics formed the annual Hongyan Alliance (鴻雁聯盟) and established 
strategic cooperation relationship with China National Publications Import & Export Corporation, where both parties 
agreed to commit to the building of a digital cloud platform for the production and publication process in the publishing 
industry. They strived to solve problems in relation to out-of-print books, delay in small-volume printing and high costs, so 
as to encourage domestic publishers to reduce their inventory significantly. This not only created a win-win environment 
for the print on demand business, but also accelerated the full transition of the printing industry towards the digital printing 
model.

Media Business
In September 2020, the central government issued the “Opinion on Accelerating In-depth Integration and Development of Media 
(關於加快推進媒體深度融合發展的意見)” as a macro-policy on media integration. It specified the overall requirements of in-
depth media integration and development in terms of its significance, target and mission and working principle. The Opinion 
proposed to drive integration and development with advanced technology, while making full use of achievements from the IT 
revolution including 5G, big data, cloud computing, Internet of Things, blockchain and artificial intelligence. It also suggested 
to enhance the prospective research and application of new technology in the news dissemination field, and support the 
independent innovation of key and core technology. Meanwhile, it pushed forward the reform on mainstream media system and 
mechanism, so that an integrated organizational structure was established for all-rounded media to produce and disseminate 
content. Media was encouraged to adopt new reporting and editorial procedures to form an efficient and centralized content 
production and dissemination chain. By exploring and building the “News + Government affairs + Service + Business” operating 
model, the media shall develop new investment and financing policies to enhance competitiveness. On 3 November 2020, the 
central government released the “Proposal on the 14th Five-Year Plan and 2035 Long-term Objectives for National Economic 
and Social Development (關於制定國民經濟和社會發展第十四個五年規劃和二零三五年遠景目標的建議)”, which detailed 
the key strategy on in-depth media integration, all-rounded media dissemination and the establishment of integrated media 
centres at county-level. Apart from advancing the in-depth integration of media, the government shall develop all-rounded media 
dissemination, strengthen new types of mainstream media and give full play to the integrated media centres at the county level. 
For all-rounded media dissemination, content creation shall be supported with state-of-the-art technology as well as reform and 
innovation measures, in the pursuit of centralized resources management, structure optimization, differential development and 
efficiency from synergy. In regard to market landscape, it was predicted that traditional media and new media shall co-exist, 
the Internet and new media shall be the main battlefield, and mobile media and online video shall become more popular. In 
terms of structure, the system will comprise four vertical levels ranging from central, provincial, municipal to county-level media, 
and horizontally cover mainstream media and business platform. As a result, central, provincial, local, industry media (or 
corporate media) and district or county-level integrated media centres shall continue to facilitate media integration and develop 
the integrated media and new media platform. This will lead to an increase in demand for the establishment of ministry-level 
integrated media centres and provincial new media platform for government affairs.
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In regard to the integration of the publishing industry, the Ministry of Science and Technology, the Central Propaganda 
Department, the Cyberspace Administration, the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Culture and Tourism, and the National Radio 
and Television Administration jointly issued the “Guidance on Facilitating In-depth Integration between Culture and Technology 
(關於促進文化和科技深度融合的指導意見)” in August 2019, which requested to accelerate the in-depth integration between 
culture and technology. In May 2020, the Cultural Reform Office of the Central Propaganda Department also published the 
“Notice on Proper Establishment of National Culture Big Data System (關於做好國家文化大數據體系建設工作通知)”, which 
proposed a national culture big data system to be established as a key infrastructure for cultural development in the new era, and 
a major part in applying the outcomes of cultural digitization to develop network and intelligent technology. The Notice drove the 
development of the big data cloud platform and cultural database in the publishing industry, which enabled publishers to further 
centralize quality resources, enhance the construction of technology platform and expand boundaries for integration. As a result, 
the industry will reshape its production process to adapt to integrated publishing, reform the organizational model based on such 
procedure, and improve publishing quality and efficiency through the use of smart technology.

1)	 Products and solutions aspect: For in-depth media integration: To better facilitate the application of mobile network, big 
data, artificial intelligence, 5G and other advanced and emerging technologies in in-depth integration and development 
of media, Founder Electronics launched the “Founder Solution for Hyper-integration of Media 3.0” after upgrade and 
optimization. It focused on the research and development of data middle platform and AI middle platform by adopting a 
cloud computing-based, containerized and microservice structure to build the new generation of supporting platforms for 
media integration technologies. At the same time, it continuously improved the intelligence and video-oriented capabilities 
of various products, such as Founder all-rounded media interview and compilation and media cloud through a component-
based research and development model with fast upgrades, so as to help with the development of smart media. “Founder 
Solution for Hyper-integration of Media 3.0” realized not only the integration of media businesses, management, users 
and data, but also the optimization of new mobile media platform and mobilization of core content creation businesses by 
adhering to our strategy that takes mobile media as the priority. Meanwhile, the solution strengthened and optimized the 
abilities of comprehensive and integrated production, comprehensive planning and interview, comprehensive compilation 
and editing and distribution from various ends for audios, videos and new media. It could help with the digitalization 
and intelligence of different application scenarios, including planning, interview, compilation, editing, publishing and 
distribution, through data middle platform and AI middle platform.

	 As for the publishing business, Founder Electronics has stepped up its efforts in the research and development of a new 
generation of digital joint compilation system, covering technologies and products in relation to joint compilation, smart 
review, automatic typesetting and others. In late 2020, Founder Electronics launched the smart review cloud service 
platform V2.0 and conducted the research and development of technologies and products in relation to the cloud-based 
digital publishing resources management platform and the knowledge service. At the same time, it actively participated in 
the establishment of the national cultural big data system.

2)	 Business model aspect: We actively promoted the transformation from software solution towards authorization service, 
SAAS service, software service and data service. The percentage of contracts in relation to the service-oriented business 
accounted for 37%, among which contracts in relation to authorization service and SAAS service business accounted for 
25% of the newly signed contracts in 2020.



FOUNDER HOLDINGS LIMITEDAnnual Report 2020 9

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

3)	 Marketing aspect: We committed to establishing model customers and projects in media integration and publishing 
integration and development: In 2020, Founder Electronics started new cooperation with various customers in the media 
market, including Xinhuanet, Fujian Daily Newspaper Group, Yangcheng Evening News Group, Heilongjiang News 
Group, Shaanxi News Group, Xinjiang Production Construction Bingtuan Wenguang Media Group, Phoenix Publishing 
and Media Group, Inner Mongolia Publishing Group and Anhui Time Publishing and Media Group. It undertook the 
construction of mobile platforms for new media, such as the big data platform for Xinhuanet, the integrated media platform 
and New Fujian client-end for Fujian Daily. It also took part in the development and launch of the integrated media 
platform of Heilongjiang News Group and the database platform of Shaanxi Daily News Group. While strengthening the 
work in relation to the inventory markets of central media, provincial media, district and county levels and industry media, 
we actively extended our footprint in new inventory markets, including corporate news centres, integrated media centres 
at district and county levels, new media for government affairs and integrated media for high schools leveraging our 
technologies and products. Besides, we cooperated with China Oil News, the Integrated Media Centre of Chaoyang 
District, Beijing, the Integrated Media Centre of Daxing District, Beijing and the Integrated Media Centre of Fengtai 
District, Beijing. Given the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in the first half of 2020, the demand from media and 
publisher customers witnessed a substantial decrease. Many projects were suspended, delayed or even cancelled. The 
budget for projects was reduced significantly, which had a great impact on the progress of our project implementation. 
Under this circumstance, on the one hand, we actively expanded our business and promoted the implementation and 
acceptance of contracted projects, on the other hand, we stepped up efforts in the planning, research and development 
of new products, with a view to laying a solid foundation for development in the mid-to-long term. Our results of operation 
have rebounded in the fourth quarter of 2020. For the publishing market, Founder smart review system was promoted 
to and adopted by over 800 domestic publishers and cultural and media companies, and the new generation of joint 
compilation system was used by clients such as China Electric Power Press. Our cloud-based publishing resources 
management platform was well-received by Phoenix Publishing and Media Group and Anhui Time Publishing and Media 
Group, and the new generation of the knowledge service platform was adopted by publishers such as Gold Wall Press 
and China Finance & Economic Publishing House. 

PROSPECTS
The management of the Group will closely monitor changes in the economy and IT market of the People’s Republic of China 
(the “PRC”). The Group will continue the development of innovative solutions and provide our customers with more cost-effective 
products and solutions to meet our customers’ demands for enhancing their competitiveness. In addition, the Group will closely 
monitor the performance of each business sector to achieve effective cost control and maximise shareholders’ value.

EMPLOYEES
The Group has developed its human resources policies and procedures based on performance and merit of employees. The 
Group ensures that the payments to its employees are competitive and the employees are rewarded based on their performance 
within the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus systems. The Group provides on-the-job training to its employees 
in addition to retirement benefit schemes and medical insurance. The Group maintained a share option scheme in place for the 
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible directors and employees of the Group who contribute to the success of 
the Group’s operations. The Group had not granted any share options to its eligible directors and employees during the current 
financial year.

As at 31 December 2020, the number of employees of the Group was 1,256 (31 December 2019: 1,260).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity, financial resources and capital commitments
During the year, the Group generally financed its operations with internally generated resources and banking facilities provided 
by its principal bankers in Hong Kong and the PRC. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had nil interest-bearing bank 
borrowings (31 December 2019: HK$107.1 million) which were fixed interest bearing. The bank borrowings as at 31 
December 2019 were denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”), and were repaid during the year. The Group’s banking facilities were 
secured by corporate guarantees given by the Company, Peking Founder, certain of the Group’s investment properties and bank 
deposits.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group recorded total assets of HK$1,515.6 million which were financed by liabilities of 
HK$469.3 million and equity of HK$1,046.3 million. The Group’s net asset value per share as at 31 December 2020 
amounted to HK$0.87 (31 December 2019: HK$0.78). The increase in net asset value per share was due to profit and 
exchange differences arising from translation of foreign operations during the year.

The Group had total cash and bank balances (including pledged deposits, structured deposits and cash and cash equivalents) of 
HK$552.1 million as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: HK$568.1 million). After deducting total bank borrowings 
(31 December 2019: HK$107.1 million), the Group recorded net cash and bank balances of HK$552.1 million as at 31 
December 2020 as compared to HK$461.0 million as at 31 December 2019. The Group’s borrowings, which are subject to 
little seasonality, mainly consist of short term bank loans and trust receipt loans. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s gearing 
ratio, measured by the ratio of total borrowings to total shareholders’ equity, was nil (31 December 2019: 0.11) while the 
Group’s working capital ratio was 2.21 (31 December 2019: 1.78). The decrease in prepayments, other receivables and other 
assets by 23.7% to HK$59.9 million (31 December 2019: HK$78.5 million) was due to decline in prepayments arising from 
less purchase during the year. The increase in other payables and accruals by 3.7% to HK$264.5 million (31 December 2019: 
HK$255.1 million) was due to increase in accrual of subcontracting fee of system integration contracts.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any material capital expenditure commitments.

Treasury policies
The Group adopts conservative treasury policies and controls tightly over its cash and risk management. The Group’s cash and 
cash equivalents are held mainly in Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”), RMB and United States Dollars (“U.S. dollars”). Surplus cash is 
generally placed in banks as short term deposits denominated in HKD, RMB and U.S. dollars.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates and related hedges
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and the PRC. For the operations in Hong Kong, most of the transactions are 
denominated in HKD and U.S. dollars. The exchange rate of U.S. dollars against HKD is relatively stable and the related 
currency exchange risk is considered minimal. For the operations in the PRC, most of the transactions are denominated in RMB. 
The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange controls promulgated 
by the PRC government. The Group has minimal exposure to exchange rate fluctuation. No financial instrument was used for 
hedging purposes. The Group will closely monitor the currency exchange risk of RMB in the near term as a result.

Contracts
As at 31 December 2020, the major contracts in hand amounted to approximately HK$283.5 million (31 December 2019: 
HK$281.4 million), which are all expected to be completed within one year.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
The Group had no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31 
December 2020.
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Charges on assets
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong of approximately HK$75.6 million and bank 
deposits of approximately HK$10.0 million were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets
The Group did not have any concrete future plans for material investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2020. However, 
the Group always seeks for new investment opportunities in the software development and system integration business to broaden 
the revenue and profit base of the Group and enhance shareholders’ value in long term.

Contingent liabilities
At 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

Events after the reporting period
The Company received a notification letter from Peking Founder on 25 January 2021, regarding a civil order received by the 
administrator of Peking University Founder Group Company Limited from The First Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing on 22 
January 2021. Pursuant to the civil order, the deadline for the submission of the restructuring proposal will be extended to 30 
April 2021.

The Company received the “Notification letter in relation to determination of restructuring investors of Peking Founder” from the 
administrator of Peking University Founder Group Company Limited on 29 January 2021. It is stated in the notification letter that 
after multiple rounds of competitive selection, it is finally determined that Zhuhai Huafa Group Co., Ltd. (on behalf of Zhuhai State-
owned Assets), Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. and Shenzhen SDG Group Co., Ltd.* formed a consortium 
as investors of restructuring of Peking Founder. In the next step, the administrator of Peking University Founder Group Company 
Limited will proceed the signing of investment agreements and drafting of restructuring proposals in accordance with the laws.

*	 For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is firmly committed to the overall standards of corporate governance and has always recognized the importance of 
accountability and communication with its shareholders. The Company adopted all the code provisions of Corporate Governance 
Code (the “CG Code”), as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), as its own code on corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company has fully complied with all the code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout 
the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in 
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct and rules governing dealings by all directors in the securities 
of the Company. Upon being made specific enquiries by the Company, all directors of the Company confirmed that they have 
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) comprises six executive directors and three independent non-executive 
directors. The executive directors are Mr Cheung Shuen Lung (Chairman), Mr Shao Xing (President), Professor Xiao Jian Guo, 
Ms Zuo Jin, Mr Hu Bin and Ms Liao Hang, and the independent non-executive directors are Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis, Mr Lau 
Ka Wing and Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund. To the best knowledge of the directors, there is no relationship (including financial, 
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board. The biographical details of each director 
are disclosed on pages 50 to 51 of this Annual Report.

The Board oversees the Group’s strategic development and determines the objectives, strategies and policies of the Group. 
The Board also monitors and controls the operating and financial performance in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives. 
Day-to-day management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management of the Company under the supervision of 
the executive directors. The functions and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to ensure that they remain 
appropriate. Matters reserved for the Board are the overall strategy of the Group, major acquisitions and disposals, major 
capital investments, dividend policy, significant changes in accounting policies, material contracts, appointment and retirement of 
directors, remuneration policy and other major operational and financial matters. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine 
the appropriate corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances and to ensure processes and 
procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s corporate governance objectives. The directors of the Company have access 
to appropriate business documents and information about the Group on a timely basis. All the directors of the Company have 
access to the Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures, and related rules and regulations, 
are followed. Minutes of Board/Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the 
directors of the Company. All directors and Board committees have recourse to external legal counsels and other professionals 
for independent advice at the Group’s expense upon their request. Appropriate directors’ liability insurance cover has also been 
arranged to indemnify the directors of the Company for liabilities arising out of corporate activities.

The Board held four regular Board meetings at approximately quarterly intervals during the year ended 31 December 2020. 
Additional Board meetings were held when necessary. Due notices and Board papers were given to all directors prior to the 
meetings in accordance with the Listing Rules and the CG Code.
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The attendance record of each director at the Board meetings and general meeting during the year is as follows:

Name of director

Board meetings
attended/

Eligible to attend

Annual General
meeting attended/

Eligible to attend
   

Executive Directors
Mr Cheung Shuen Lung (Chairman) 4/4 1/1
Mr Shao Xing 4/4 0/1
Professor Xiao Jian Guo 4/4 0/1
Ms Zuo Jin 4/4 0/1
Mr Hu Bin 4/4 0/1
Ms Liao Hang 4/4 0/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis 4/4 1/1
Mr Lau Ka Wing (appointed on 1 April 2020) 3/3 1/1
Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund (appointed on 1 April 2020) 3/3 1/1
Mr Li Fat Chung (resigned on 1 April 2020) 1/1 N/A
Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee (resigned on 1 April 2020) 1/1 N/A
   

There are also three Board committees under the Board, namely, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and 
the Audit Committee.

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper 
understanding of the Company’s operation and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under the relevant statutes, laws, 
rules and regulations.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year, directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s 
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each director to discharge their duties. In addition, all 
directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development trainings to develop and refresh their knowledge 
and skills. The Company updates the directors on the latest updates regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory 
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
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All directors have participated in continuous professional development and have provided to the Company the records of the 
training they received during the year ended 31 December 2020. The individual training record of each director received for the 
year ended 31 December 2020 is summarised below:

Name of director

Briefings and
updates on the

business, operations
and corporate

governance matters

Attending seminars,
workshops or

self-study of materials
relevant to the business

or directors’ duties 
   

Executive Directors
Mr Cheung Shuen Lung (Chairman) ✓ ✓

Mr Shao Xing ✓ ✓

Professor Xiao Jian Guo ✓ ✓

Ms Zuo Jin ✓ ✓

Mr Hu Bin ✓ ✓

Ms Liao Hang ✓ ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis ✓ ✓

Mr Lau Ka Wing (appointed on 1 April 2020) ✓ ✓

Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund (appointed on 1 April 2020) ✓ ✓

Mr Li Fat Chung (resigned on 1 April 2020) ✓ ✓

Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee (resigned on 1 April 2020) ✓ ✓
   

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. The Board reviewed 
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional development of directors and 
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance 
with the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive are separate and are not exercised by the same individual. Mr Cheung Shuen 
Lung is the Chairman of the Board. The primary role of the Chairman is to provide leadership for the Board and to ensure that it 
works effectively in the discharge of its responsibilities. Mr Shao Xing is the President of the Company. The President is responsible 
for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Their respective role and responsibilities are set out in writing which have 
been approved by the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
There are currently three non-executive directors, and all of them are independent. Each independent non-executive director has 
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a period of one year. Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, one 
third of all the directors, including the non-executive directors, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at each annual general 
meeting.

All of the three independent non-executive directors have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial 
management expertise. This composition is in compliance with the requirement of Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. Each independent 
non-executive director has, pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, provided an annual confirmation of his independence to the 
Company and the Company also considers them to be independent.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee of the Board was established in 2005 with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly 
with its authorities and duties. The role and functions of this committee include formulating the remuneration policy, making 
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management, making 
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive directors, reviewing and approving performance-based 
remuneration, and ensuring that no director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

In 2020, the Remuneration Committee met once to review and discuss the remuneration policy for the directors of the Company 
and the remuneration packages of all directors of the Company. The Company’s policy on remuneration is to maintain fair and 
competitive packages based on business needs and industry practice. For determining the level of fees paid to the directors, 
market rates and factors such as each director’s workload and required commitment will be taken into account. No individual 
director will be involved in decisions relating to his/her own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee adopts the model of 
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior management. 
Information relating to the remuneration of each director for 2020 is set out in Note 8 to the Company’s 2020 Financial 
Statements.

The members of the Remuneration Committee during the year and their attendance record at the meeting are as follows:

Name of member Meeting attended/Eligible to attend

Mr Lau Ka Wing (Chairman) (Independent non-executive director) 1/1
Mr Cheung Shuen Lung (Executive director) 1/1
Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund (Independent non-executive director) 1/1

With effect from 1 April 2020, Mr Lau Ka Wing was appointed to replace Mr Li Fat Chung as the chairman of the remuneration 
committee of the Board; and Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund was appointed to replace Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee as a member of the 
remuneration committee of the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Nomination Committee of the Board was established in 2012 with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly 
with its authorities and duties. Its terms of reference amended and adopted by the Board in December 2018 can be found on 
the Company’s website (www.founder.com.hk) and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s website (www.hkexnews.hk). 
The role and functions of the Nomination Committee include determining the policy for the nomination of directors, setting out 
the nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted to select and recommend candidates for directorship. Only the 
most suitable candidates who are experienced and competent and able to fulfill the fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and 
diligence would be recommended to the Board for selection. Appointments of directors are first considered by the Nomination 
Committee and recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision. The Nomination 
Committee is also responsible for reviewing the structure, size and diversity of the board.

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board on 30 August 2013. In designing the Board’s composition, the diversity 
of the Board has been considered from a number of aspects including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. Candidates will be considered against objective 
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate; and reviewing the measurable objectives that have been set for implementing the board 
Diversity Policy, and reviewing the progress on achieving the objectives.

Out of the nine directors comprising the board, two of them are women. Three of the nine directors are independent non-
executive directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the management process. The Board is also characterised by 
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of age, cultural and educational background, professional expertise and skills. 
The Board endeavours to steer forward and ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of aspects 
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
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The nomination policy of directors of the Company was adopted by the Board on 28 December 2018. The policy sets out the 
procedures, process and criteria for identifying and recommending candidates for election to the Board.

Selection Criteria
When evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships, the members of the Nomination Committee or the Board shall 
consider the following criteria:

(a) 	 Character and integrity;

(b)	 Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s 
business and corporate strategies;

(c)	 The Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity 
on the Board;

(d)	 Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member and other directorships and significant 
commitments;

(e)	 In case of independent non-executive Directors, whether the candidates would be considered independent in accordance 
with the Listing Rules;

(f)	 In case of re-election, the overall contribution and service to the Company of the Director to be re-elected and the level of 
participation and performance on the Board and the other criteria set out in this section; and

(g)	 Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion 
to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures
(a)	 The Nomination Committee and/or the Board identifies potential candidates including but not limited to internal 

promotion, re-designation, referral by other member of the management and external recruitment agencies and/or 
advisors. The Nomination Committee then develops a short list of candidates and agrees on proposed candidate(s);

(b)	 Proposed candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary personal information, biographical details, together with their 
written consent to be appointed as a director. The Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide additional 
information and documents, if considered necessary;

(c)	 The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director(s) and the personal 
information (or relevant details) of the proposed candidate(s), evaluate such candidate(s) based on the criteria as set out 
above to determine whether such candidate(s) is qualified for directorship;
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(d)	 For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the 
Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such 
candidate is qualified for directorship;

(e)	 If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of preference 
based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each candidate (where applicable);

(f)	 The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene a meeting of the Nomination Committee. For filling a 
casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. 
For proposing candidates to stand for re-election or election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee shall 
make nominations or recommendations for the Board’s consideration and the Board shall make recommendations to 
shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election or election of Director(s) at the general meeting;

(g)	 In order to provide information of the candidates nominated by the Board to stand for election or re-election at a 
general meeting, a circular will be sent to shareholders. The circular will set out the names, brief biographies (including 
qualifications and relevant experience), independence, proposed remuneration and any other information, as required 
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations including the Listing Rules, of the proposed candidates; and

(h)	 The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election or 
re-election at any general meeting.

In 2020, the Nomination Committee met once to review the structure, size and diversity of the Board, nomination procedure 
and the independence of the independent non-executive directors, and to recommend the Board on the appointment and 
reappointment of directors and the succession planning for directors.

The members of the Nomination Committee during the year and their attendance record at the meeting are as follows:

Name of member Meeting attended/Eligible to attend

Mr Cheung Shuen Lung (Chairman) (Executive director) 1/1
Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis (Independent non-executive director) 1/1
Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund (Independent non-executive director) 1/1

With effect from 1 April 2020, Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund was appointed to replace Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee as a member of the 
nomination committee of the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee of the Board was established in 1998 in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules with specific written 
terms of reference which deal clearly with its authorities and duties. Its terms of reference amended and adopted by the Board 
in December 2018, can be found on the Company’s website (www.founder.com.hk) and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited’s website (www.hkexnews.hk). The Audit Committee now solely comprises independent non-executive directors of the 
Company, namely, Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis (Chairman), Mr Lau Ka Wing and Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund. All the committee 
members possess appropriate professional accounting and financial qualifications.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, 
reappointment and removal of the external auditors, approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external 
auditors, reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process 
in accordance with applicable standards, developing and implementing policy on the engagement of external auditors to provide 
non-audit services, monitoring the integrity of the financial statements and the reports of the Company, overseeing the Company’s 
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems and developing and reviewing policies and practices or 
corporate governance.

In 2020, the Audit Committee met three times. During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the reports from the 
independent auditors regarding their audit on annual financial statements, review on interim financial results, discussed the internal 
control of the Group, and met with the independent auditors.

The attendance report of the members of the Audit Committee at the meetings during the year are as follows:

Name of member Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis (Chairman) (Independent non-executive director) 3/3
Mr Lau Ka Wing (Independent non-executive director) 2/2
Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund (Independent non-executive director) 2/2
Mr Li Fat Chung  

(resigned on 1 April 2020)
(Independent non-executive director) 1/1

Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee  
(resigned on 1 April 2020)

(Independent non-executive director) 1/1

With effect from 1 April 2020, Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis was appointed to replace Mr Li Fat Chung as the chairman of the 
audit committee of the Board; Mr Lau Ka Wing was appointed to replace Mr Li Fat Chung as a member of the audit committee 
of the Board; and Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund was appointed to replace Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee as a member of the audit 
committee of the Board.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has the ultimate responsibility to maintain appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems for 
the Group to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the Group as a whole and to ensure strict compliance with relevant 
laws, rules and regulations. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control systems and reporting to the Board.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems comprise a well established organisational structure and 
comprehensive policies and standards. Areas of responsibilities for each business and functional unit are clearly defined to ensure 
effective checks and balances. Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition; 
for maintaining proper accounting records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial information used within the business or for 
publication. The Board also clarifies that the system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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During the year, the internal audit department has carried out an overview on the effectiveness of the risk management and 
internal control systems of the Group. Based on the risk-based approach, the internal audit department continuously review and 
monitor the sufficiency of the risk control measures of every business unit of the Group and to examine if relevant measures have 
been implemented. The procedures involve assuring the existence of related risks in the first place, then assessing the levels to 
which the potential risks are attributed based on the following two risk factors, i.e., the level of significance of the risk and the 
possibility of occurrence. No material internal control aspects of any significant problems were identified. With reference to the 
assessment of the internal audit department, both the Audit Committee and the Board conducted review of the risk management 
and internal control systems maintained by the Group including the financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 
management functions for the year ended 31 December 2020 and were satisfied that the risk management and internal control 
systems of the Group had functioned effectively and was adequate during the year.

INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY
An Inside Information Policy was adopted by the Company which sets out guidelines to the directors of the Company, officers 
and all relevant employees of the Group to ensure inside information (as defined in the Listing Rules) (the “Inside Information”) of 
the Group would be disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 
The Company also established Group Internal Notification Policies and Procedures for setting out guidelines for identification and 
notification of Inside Information and notifiable transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules). A whistleblowing policy was also 
adopted by the Group.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young, is 
summarised as follows:

HK$’000
  

Statutory audit services 2,560

Non-audit services:
Agreed-upon procedures on interim results 400
Agreed-upon procedures on continuing connected transactions 50
Compliance and tax advisory services 92

  

542
  

Total 3,102
  

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group 
on a going concern basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The statement 
of the Auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the 
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 59 to 62 of this Annual Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms Cheang Yee Wah Eva (“Ms Cheang”), who is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters and 
ensuring that the Board policies and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations were followed, has been the 
company secretary of the Company since 11 May 2018. Ms Cheang has taken relevant professional trainings which are in 
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2020.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company affirms its commitment to maintaining a high degree of corporate transparency, communicating regularly with its 
shareholders and ensuring, in appropriate circumstances, the investment community at large being provided with ready, equal 
and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the Company (including its financial performance, strategic 
goals and plans, material developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable the shareholders to exercise their rights 
in an informed manner.

The Company’s Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) is one of the principal channels of communication with its shareholders. 
It provides an opportunity for shareholders to ask questions about the Company’s performance. Separate resolutions will be 
proposed for each substantially separate issue at the AGM. Directors of the Company, including the Chairmen of the Board and 
Board committees and Board committee members, and the Company’s external auditor attended the 2020 AGM and were 
available to answer questions from shareholders.

Under the Listing Rules, all resolutions proposed at general meetings must be voted by poll except where the chairman of a 
general meeting, in good faith and in compliance with the Listing Rules, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely 
to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. Details of the poll procedures will be explained 
during the proceedings of general meetings. The poll results will be released and posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange  
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.founder.com.hk).

To provide effective communication, the Company maintains a website at www.founder.com.hk. All the financial information 
and other disclosures including, inter alia, annual reports, interim reports, announcements, circulars, notices and Memorandum of 
Association and New Bye-Laws are available on the Company’s website.

Shareholders may direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor 
Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong or contact the Customer Service Hotline 
of the Company’s Registrar at (852) 2862 8555. Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board or the Company Secretary 
in written form to the head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company.
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THE SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convene a Special General Meeting
Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and Bye-law 62 of the Bye-laws of the Company, special 
general meetings shall be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company holding, at the date of 
deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general 
meetings of the Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Secretary for the purpose of requiring a 
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting 
shall be held within three months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed 
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner.

Put forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings
Shareholder(s) representing not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders of the Company or of 
not less than 100 shareholders of the Company may by requisition, at their own expense unless the Company otherwise resolves, 
to put forward proposals at general meetings of the Company pursuant to Clauses 79 and 80 of the Companies Act 1981 of 
Bermuda (as amended). A written notice to that effect signed by the shareholder(s) concerned together with a sum reasonably 
sufficient to meet the expenses in giving effect thereto must be deposited at the registered office of the Company not less than six 
weeks before the meeting for requisition(s) requiring notice of a resolution, or not less than one week before the meeting for any 
other requisition(s).

DIVIDEND POLICY
Policy on Payment of Dividend of the Company is in place setting out the factors in determination of dividend payment of the 
Company, including results of operations, working capital, financial position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well 
as any other factors which the Board may consider relevant from time to time. The policy shall be reviewed periodically and 
submitted to the Board for approval if amendments are required.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Company did not make any changes in its Memorandum of Association and New Bye-laws during the year.
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I.	 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
The Group serves in the fields of printing, media, publishing, big data and fonts library and is committed to providing 
leading information processing technology, products, system solutions and value-added services to customers, enabling 
customers to experience an information technology life in the era of mobile Internet via different devices without time and 
space limitation. Apart from continuously enhancing business quality and providing value-added services to customers, 
the Group also recognises the importance of greater environmental stewardship and sustainable development of the 
community in order to ensure the holistic and harmonious development of our business alongside the environment and 
communities in which we operate. Throughout the past years, the Group has been actively fulfilling its corporate social 
responsibilities. It has a proven record in utilizing technology and combining comprehensive staff on-the-job training with 
its well-established governance system to actively reduce its overall impact on the environment from various aspects. 
Furthermore, we adhere to the core people-oriented principle, respecting the rights and interests of our employees. We 
actively participate in public services and earnestly honor our corporate citizenship.

1.	 Carbon emission
The Group comprehensively enhanced its corporate image on both the environment and the community aspects 
and actively responded to the challenges and impact of climate changes on the global economy. Starting from 
2017, the Group discloses its carbon emission data every year and integrated energy conservation and emission 
reduction into its long-term plan, pursuant to which it has formulated corresponding carbon reduction measures 
to lower the impact of its total emission of greenhouse gases to the community and the environment. At Beijing 
Founder Electronics Co., Ltd. (“Founder Electronics”), the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, carbon emission 
was mainly resulted from energy consumption and electricity used in computers, printing systems, lighting systems 
and information technology (“IT”) systems for its core media business as well as exhaust gas from commercial 
vehicles. As the major source of power generation in Beijing was coal burning, Founder Electronics has focused 
its work in relation to energy conservation and emission reduction by saving electricity and reducing consumption 
of resources with an aim to reduce the greenhouse gases generated from coal burning.

The total emission of greenhouse gases generated from purchased electricity for the year of Founder Electronics 
are as follows:
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1.	 Carbon emission (continued)
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The continuous increasing trend of total emission of greenhouse gases generated from purchased electricity by 
year is mainly due to the increasing business volume of Founder Electronics and the appropriate overtime work of 
employees. The total greenhouse gas emissions per employee decreased from approximately 966 kg in 2019 to 
approximately 912 kg in 2020 with a steady decrease. The Group will encourage employees to save electricity 
in accordance with the “Measurements for energy saving” in the “Resource utilization” section below.

2.	 Resource utilisation
The Group worked diligently to enhance the utilization rate of various materials and resources, including energy, 
water and paper, and strive to enhance the reutilization rate and recycling rate of resources and reduce the 
amount of waste produced so as to consistently implement its environmental protection concepts to all operational 
levels and production processes. Founder Electronics always exercises stringent control over its production process 
to minimize any hazardous or non-hazardous waste to be generated from the company’s operation. By doing so, 
it has reduced waste from production, eased the pressure of waste handling of the community and enhanced the 
environmental standards of the company.

Reducing consumption by intelligent solution
Given its leading position in the printing industry and in terms of modern media technology, Founder Electronics 
actively undertook its environmental mission and launched the innovative “Founder All-in-one Solution”. The solution 
integrates printing and digital network and applies intelligent printing to the whole production process, including 
automatic review, analysis and categorization of orders as well as automatic allocation of necessary materials 
and assessment of the amount of consumables needed for the orders. The accurate data on actual volume of 
production and demand would enable more precise control over utilization of materials and thus realize printing 
on demand, resulting in significant decrease in both consumption of materials and unnecessary paper and 
improvement in production efficiency.

Reducing waste by high-end digital printing technology
The high-end digital inkjet printing technology developed by Founder Electronics can maximize the utilization 
rate of ink and reduce the amount of unnecessary unrecyclable waste with the use of recyclable toner cartridge 
and ink cartridge. Looking forward, Founder Electronics will put consistent efforts in development and innovation, 
improving its production process, and enhancing productivity with an aim to truly realise green production.
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2.	 Resource utilisation (continued)
Measurements for energy saving
The Group focused on reducing various pollutants and proactively reduced the volume of waste generated and 
enhanced the utilization efficiency of resources through various methods.

Light energy
The Group reduces unnecessary lighting energy consumption; maximize the use of daylight and turn off the light 
of office rooms that are not being used; clean the lighting and lamps regularly to improve energy efficiencies; use 
lighting with high energy efficiencies (e.g. T5 fluorescent light and LED).

Air conditioning resources
The Group established policies on better use of air conditioning resources with the lowest temperature of air 
conditioner being set at 25.5℃ and turn off the air conditioner of office rooms that are not being used during the 
office hours. After work, all departments shall turn off the power supply of office equipment in time. Special email 
will be sent before every holiday to remind all employees to turn off the power supply of office equipment.

Paper resources
The Group promotes paperless office by using an electronic working system that replaces paper records and 
communicate through electronic technical equipment to reduce paper documentation.

Printing resources
The computers and printers are preset for double-sided printing and ink-saving mode; staff are reminded to print 
documents on both sides and the files to be printed may use thinner fonts and row spacing.

Water resources
To enhance the utilization efficiency of water resources, the Group can obtain the suitable water source steadily, 
lower the water pressure to the lowest possible level; install double flush toilets in the washroom; conduct leakage 
testing of concealed water pipes regularly and use the products with first-class water efficiency label.

Information and communication technology equipment
The information and communication technology equipment are completely turned off during non-office hours, and 
the computers are set to enter automatic standby and sleep mode when it is idle. A wireless network recorder 
is installed to monitor the temperature and humidity of the data center, so as to better regulate the energy 
consumption of air conditioning.

Recycling and retrieve
The headquarters office building of the Group is equipped with recycling boxes and facilities. Evaluation for the 
material consumption is needed when purchasing office supplies so as to avoid excessive inventory. The Group 
also reduces the purchase and use of disposable and non-recyclable products, such as purchasing recyclable 
toner boxes and ink cartridges.
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2.	 Resource utilisation (continued)
Measurements for energy saving (continued)
Staff commuting
Employees are encouraged to share the use of cars and choose public transportation and green commuting to 
alleviate road burden and vehicle exhaust gas emissions.

Starting from 2017, the Group discloses its utilization of resources to the public every year, the specific details of 
recent 3 years are as follows:

2020
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THE TOTAL FUEL CONSUMPTION OF THE 
HEADQUARTERS’ SELF-OWNED VEHICLES

6,031
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The total fuel consumption of the headquarters self-owned vehicles in 2020 was approximately 3,661 liters, 
a significant decrease of 39.3% as compared to 6,031 liters in 2019. As the total fuel consumption of 
headquarters’ self-owned vehicles in this reporting year has reached a low level and has declined significantly 
year by year, the Group aims to maintain the current level in the next year.

Category Emission this year (kg)
   

Exhaust gas Sulphur oxides 0.054
Nitrogen oxides 36.3
Particulate matter 3.5

Scope GHG emission this year (CO 2-e kg)
  

Scope 1: Direct GHG Emissions 9,912.7
Scope 2: Energy Indirect GHG Emissions 1,121,336.4
Scope 3: Other Indirect GHG Emissions 394,826.9
Total GHG emission 1,526,076.0
GHG intensity (CO 2-e kg/employee) 1,240.7
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2.	 Resource utilisation (continued)
Due to the business nature of the Company, the non-hazardous waste produced is immaterial data, the Company 
considers to try and to collect more data and improve the report scope in the future.

Category
Energy consumption of this year

(1,000 kWh)
   

Energy use Direct energy 32.6
Indirect energy 1,268.0
Total energy consumption 1,300.6
Energy intensity (1,000 kWh/employee) 1.1

Resource use Total water consumption (tonne) 485.2
Water consumption intensity  

(tonne/employee) 0.4
Total packing material used (tonne) 10

II.	 QUALITY OF WORKING ENVIRONMENT
1.	 Working environment

The Group has been actively devoting significant resources with a vision of providing a safe and comfortable 
working environment for its staff and creating a healthy, positive, harmonious and efficient corporate culture 
that supports its staff at different locations to unleash their potential and hence create more values for the 
Group continuously. The office building of headquarter rented by Founder Electronics in Beijing has an area of 
approximately 13,274 sqm. The building was divided into different sections according to departmental functions, 
which include sales department, research and development department, functional departments and public areas, 
complemented by pantries and staff rest areas, offering a spacious and comfortable working environment for 1,256 
staff. Moreover, Founder Electronics offered first-class accommodation for its staff. The dormitory was equipped 
with thoughtful facilities that take care of all aspects of lives of our staff, making every effort to show its care for 
the staff and providing them with comfortable, home-like dormitory equipment. Furthermore, Founder Electronics 
added one more laundry room for the staff living in youth apartment in order to satisfy the demand for washing 
and drying of clothes, and reduce their waiting time. In addition, there were 8 old air conditioners being replaced 
for improving the quality of lives of staff. Founder Electronics ceaselessly enhanced the overall living standards of 
the dormitory, which has in turn enhanced staff morale and their sense of belonging to the company.

2.	 Health and safety
Founder Electronics always regards staff interests as the foundation of long-term corporate development and cares 
for physical and mental wellness as well as safety of its staff. We understand that the staff would be devoted to 
the Group’s business in their best conditions and continuously create values for the Group only if they have good 
physical fitness and mental being. Throughout the years, the Group has made strenuous efforts in maintaining 
occupational safety and caring for its staff. Previously, we have engaged professionals of Chinese medicine 
to organize a salon, at which the professionals made diagnosis for our staff and gave professional advice on 
healthcare. In addition, the Group has complied with local safety regulations, striving to place safety in the first 
place at every operational level. The Group organises fire drills on a regular basis, through which the staff gain 
knowledge regarding fire safety and their safety awareness raises. In the future, Founder Electronics will continue 
to adhere to the core people-oriented principle to care for its staff from various aspects and organize different 
activities to enhance the wellness and safety awareness of its staff.
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2.	 Health and safety (continued)
Internal policy
The Group adopts the following occupational health and safety measures to ensure the occupational safety of 
staff.

The Group has formulated “The safety management rules of Beijing Founder Electronics Co., Ltd. (北京北大方
正電子有限公司安全管理規則)” to provide all staff of the Group with safety guidance within the office and 
working scope, as well as management rules for safety supervision. In addition, the Group has formulated “The 
comprehensive emergency plan for safety incidents of Beijing Founder Electronics Co., Ltd. (北京北大方正電子
有限公司安全事故綜合應急預案)” to provide emergency plans for emergencies and safety accidents caused 
by energy, fire protection, network safety and public health, so as to ensure the health and safety of staff and to 
enhance the strain capacity of the Group in continuous operation.

Employment contract
In the employment contract entered into between the Group and the staff, relevant provisions on labour protection 
and occupational hazard protection are included. For example, Article 3 states that Founder Electronics has 
to provide necessary office conditions and labour safety protection for the staff, and establish and improve the 
working process, job specification and system for labour safety and health. In addition, Article 5 also states 
that Founder Electronics has to create working environment and conditions for the staff that meet the national 
occupational health standards and health requirements, and effectively protects the safety and health of staff 
in production in accordance with the relevant national labour protection regulations. The Group has strictly 
implemented the above regulations.

In 2020, the number of work-related injuries was 0, so there was no loss of working days due to work-related 
injuries. In addition, the number and rate of work-related fatalities were both 0.

3.	 Development and trainings
The Group always treats its staff as the most important asset and most valuable resource of the Group. They 
drive the continuous development of the Group and take the Group to new heights. The Group strives to provide 
diversified trainings for its staff at different aspects, so that its staff can gain a variety of professional knowledge 
and continue to develop their abilities, explore potential, enhance professional skills and broaden the horizons. In 
this regard, the Group launched a series of training programs, covering staff at all levels from new employees to 
senior management. Apart from free public courses organised by the Human Resources Department, the Group 
also provided diversified professional trainings targeting different business areas. In 2020, training activities 
organized by Founder Electronics attracted 2,225 participants in total. These activities have helped staff to better 
connect with the corporate culture and system and also enhanced their comprehensive capability as well as the 
capacity for sustainable development of the Group.
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3.	 Development and trainings (continued)
Target group for training
All kinds of training activities of the Group covered the staff of all levels and departments, including sales 
and marketing, research and development, project management and product operation, product design, 
merchandising and logistics, new media, new staff and all staff, so that employees of all departments can have 
sufficient and comprehensive understanding of their jobs, industry development, innovative technology and 
corporate culture. In addition, training activities included workshops for workplace social and interest class. The 
number of participated employees from all departments is as follows:

PERCENTAGE OF PARTICIPANTS IN TOTAL
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Research and development

Project management and product operation

New staff

Product design
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All staff

New media
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3.	 Development and trainings (continued)
Founder Electronics actively organized various activities targeting different types of business for its staff with a view 
to providing them with the most thoughtful and effective staff training programs. In order to help new staff to better 
adapt to the Company’s rules, system, corporate culture and strategies, Founder Electronics organized the 16th to 
18th “Founder Electronics Successful Start for New Staff (方正電子新員工橙起航第十六至十八期)”. 

In addition, in order to enable graduates to better integrate into the workplace, Founder Electronics organized the 
1st to 3rd “2020 training camp for fresh graduates”.

“The action learning class of Inkjet project” was divided into five courses and graduation ceremony. It provided 
comprehensive training of “Jieying inkjet printing production line” (桀鷹噴墨印刷生產線) for employees of 
department of research and development, product, service system and project management.

The “Flying Project” (展翅計劃) was divided into five stages, achievement sharing and graduation ceremony. It 
was dedicated to the special training of component product design and APP design platform, and strengthened 
the creativity and integration capability of leaders and employees on product design and APP Design.
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4.	 Labour standards
Equal and diversified employment opportunities
The Group strives to provide equal and diversified employment opportunities for its staff and strictly complied 
with the principle of fairness and anti-discrimination. Founder Electronics respects gender equality. Staff are 
provided with the same benefits and their remuneration are determined with the same method for new recruitment, 
promotion and determining level of remuneration. Promotion is based on personal competence instead of other 
factors such as gender and age. Furthermore, Founder Electronics includes its commitment to fairness and equity in 
the Company’s rules, so that all employees are treated equally and all kinds of discrimination are strictly forbidden. 
The Group also encourages mutual respect among staff members in a view to creating a harmonious and friendly 
working environment.

Ensure the rest time of staff
Moreover, the Group reviews its employment terms on a regular basis and issued the “Management Rules for 
Attendance and Holiday (考勤及假期管理制度)”, which effectively avoids the problem of prolonged working 
hours or forced labour and ensures the rest time of its staff by imposing stipulated number of working hours. 

Prevention of the employment of Child labour
The Group strictly abides by the provision of Article 15 of the Labour Law of the PRC, Article 28 of the Law on 
the Protection of Minors of PRC and Article 2 of the Prohibition of Child Labour Provisions (Order No. 364 of 
the State Council) that all the minors under the age of 16 are forbidden to be recruited. For staff recruitment, 
Founder Electronics has established a requirement for minimum academic qualification for employment to ensure 
that no child labour is employed. If the Group finds and realizes any violation on the prevention of forced labour 
and the prevention of the employment of child labour, it will be handled by the department of Human Resources 
in accordance with the “Management Rules for Attendance and Holiday” and the “Prohibition of Child Labour 
Provisions (禁止使用童工規定)” or the applicable internal guidelines.
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4.	 Labour standards (continued)
A detailed classification of our staff by gender, age groups, employment type and region set out as below:

61.0%

39.0%

EMPLOYEE BY GENDER EMPLOYEE BY AGE GROUPS

50.6%

27.0%11.5%
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Senior Management
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Note:	 The definition of employment type division in this reporting year has been updated internally. The definition of Middle 
Management in the past was “all cadre members except leading members and vice presidents of the Company”, while in this 
reporting year, it defined as “the principal and deputy positions of the first level departments except the Senior Management”, 
with a smaller scope than in the past. As a result, the proportion has also decreased from 14.0% in 2018 to 1.1% in this 
reporting year, but actual human resources configuration has not changed so much.
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4.	 Labour standards (continued)
A detailed classification of staff turnover rate by gender, age groups, employment type and region set out below:

STAFF TURNOVER IN NUMBER AND IN RATE BY GENDER
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4.	 Labour standards (continued)

STAFF TURNOVER RATE BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE
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5.	 Staff welfare
The Group has established a comprehensive welfare system, providing its staff with statutory benefits in strict 
compliance with the provisions of the Labour Law in the People’s Republic of China, the scope of which covers 
provident fund, social insurance, additional commercial insurance, medical insurance, unemployment, maternity 
and work injury, etc.

Social insurance
Regarding the various bases of premium of social insurance for staff, Founder Electronics implements and pays the 
premium in accordance with the national and local regulations to ensure that staff is guaranteed of statutory social 
protection.

Additional commercial insurance
Founder Electronics provides comprehensive medical insurance, personal accident insurance for staff and provides 
traffic accident insurance for staff with specific job needs, in order to provide staff with better medical and 
accident protection and more caring as well as comprehensive medical benefits.

Other benefits
To show the Company’s care and attention to staff, Founder Electronics provides working lunch allowance of 
RMB30 per workday for staff, so that staff can enjoy a rich and nutritious lunch. In addition, the company provides 
free health check-ups, wedding cash gifts, travelling expenses of family visits for staff and so on.

Staff activities
In 2020, Founder Electronics held a number of large staff activities, so that staff could feel more belonging to the 
Company, and enhance the cohesion of the Company, reflecting the company’s care for staff.

Goddess Festival
On 7 March, Founder Electronics held the “Goddess Festival Online Talent Show”. The yearning to a better future 
of Founder Electronics staff had not been decreased, even though this Spring was different than usual under the 
pandemic. During the period of home office, cooking, painting, live broadcasting, sports and so on were showed 
by Goddesses, attracting over 500 employees participated to elect the Goddess via online voting. The employees 
made this Goddess Festival full of “ritual feeling” in their own ways.
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5.	 Staff welfare (continued)
Staff activities (continued)
Date with us, Spring Photography Competition
During the pandemic, a special Spring with special light appeared in April, Founder Electronics had organized its 
staff to record stories with cameras, collecting more than 200 photographic works in total, in which more than 40 
works were from different regions. 60 excellent works which entered into the final competition were exhibited in 
the lobby of Founder Electronics Building. Art enabled employees to feel the beauty of life under the pandemic, so 
as to improve work efficiency and their perception of the Company’s warmth.
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5.	 Staff welfare (continued)
Staff activities (continued)
Adoption for the Hoping Elves in May Day
In the coming of the Labour Day on the first day of May, Founder Electronics held the “Adoption for the Hoping 
Elves”. About 300 employees cultivated their own “Hoping Elves” by adopting the seeds of different plants and 
sowing with their hands. The employees can work harder and live seriously with hope in this special labour day 
through the cultivation of planting, so as to nurture a sense of identity to the corporate culture of the Company.

Blessing in Dragon Boat Festival
In the coming of Dragon Boat Festival, employees of Founder Electronics incarnated as the blessing fairy to give 
the wormwood sachet with the blessing to the employees in Founder Electronics Building, made employees felt the 
caring of the Company so as to establish more sense of belonging.

Karaoke contest in Qixi Festival
Sing it loud, sing what you want. The first karaoke contest of Founder Electronics was held in Qixi Festival in 
which 30 employees signed up as contestants for the event. Singing was sweet, lyric liked a poem and musical 
note liked picturesque made the scene hot. Employees could fully feel the rich and colorful atmosphere of the 
corporate culture. With the youthful and interesting culture, more close with the employees.
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5.	 Staff welfare (continued)
Staff activities (continued)
Third season of Koi Fair
Embracing Koi and rejecting “idle fish” (means the old idle things), the third season of Koi Fair was held 
enthusiastically in Founder Electronics Building. The free trade among employees made the old things more 
useful, made the communication warmer, and various small gifts could be rewarded by Koi coin gained after the 
transactions. The funny game of throwing circle rewarded the employees with surprising gifts. Both games and Koi 
booth provided a warm time with novel and interesting feeling for the hardworking colleagues who worked hard.

Garden party with red pocket on New Year’s day
As New Year’s Day approached, the lobby of Founder Electronics Building was decorated as a garden party 
scene with full of red pockets, so that employees could give farewell to the year of 2020 and greet the year of 
2021 in a joyful atmosphere. At the same time, Founder Electronics organized group photography with the theme 
of “the most unforgettable 2020”. Photos were uploaded to social platform for getting thumb up, and exchanged 
New Year’s red pockets, so that employees could have a pleasant and surprising New Year’s day with excitement 
and warmth.

Staff reward
In the aspect of environmental governance, Founder Electronics sets incentive targets for staff’s performance 
according to two criteria. One is to reward the staff who carried out the replacement of plug-in board with a small 
commemorative prize. The second is the staff who actively put forward effective suggestions on environmental 
improvement to the department of administration, who will be rewarded with an exquisite gift if the suggestions 
were adopted.
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III.	 OPERATING PRACTICE
1.	 Supply chain guidance on environmental and social risks

The Group puts great emphasis on quality of supply chain management and the possible impact on the 
environment and society in the supply process, such as how to save on the transportation process of the supply 
chain, so as to reduce the emissions of greenhouse gases and pollutants released from the transportation process. 
Therefore, the selection of suppliers will be based on the supply mode, supply content, supply cycle, location 
of customer, special policy requirements of manufacturers or users, business terms and other comprehensive 
conditions. The Group provides the internal guidance on the selection of the following four categories of suppliers:

Product suppliers
The Group selects long-term cooperative suppliers in priority and choose to deliver the products from manufacturers 
to the customer’s location directly according to the customer’s location, the delivery date, the actual situation of the 
project and the company’s audit requirements. If there are requirements on the limitation of the supplying area by 
product manufactures or special requirements by users, it will give priority to the local suppliers, and deliver the 
product directly to the customer’s location, instead of arranging shipment through the Company’s warehouse, so as 
to save transportation cost and resources and reduce the emission of greenhouse gases and pollutants.

Software products suppliers
The Group will give priority to the suppliers that can provide virtual authorization with non-physical supply methods 
in order to reduce transportation.

On site implementation and service suppliers
Based on the actual project situation, the Group will prioritise customers’ location when considering supply made 
thereto.

Production and processing suppliers
In the early stage of cooperation, the Group will conduct a comprehensive assessment on its business qualification, 
and require it to have environmental qualification to prove that the production and processing does not constitute 
a negative impact on the environment, otherwise the Group will not cooperate with such suppliers.

2.	 Supply chain management
Supplier Introduction Rules
The Group puts great emphasis on business quality, thereby adhering to the principles of fairness, justice and 
openness in terms of selection of suppliers. Therefore, Founder Electronics has formulated the “Supplier Introduction 
Rules (供應商引入規則)” to select appropriate suppliers in strict compliance with the rules and regulations. Any 
supplier that have never traded with the Group are required to complete comprehensive assessment on business 
qualification and the relevant approval procedures for introduction of supplier before a new transaction.

The procedures for introduction of suppliers
The procedures for introduction of suppliers are managed by four lines: main supplier, non-main supplier, 
outsourcer and raw material supplier, involving controlled by various departments of the Company, including the 
product department, procurement department, service center, R&D center and production center, etc. In response 
to the changes in the business environment and needs for business development, the Company exercises caution 
in introducing new suppliers while reviewing the existing structure of supply chain on a regular basis in order to 
enhance the ability of supply channels by choosing the best in terms of quality, price and commercial conditions 
so that a competitive supplier system is formed.
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2.	 Supply chain management (continued)
The procedures for introduction of suppliers (continued)
The Group will arrange on-site visits to the manufacturers regularly in light of its attention to the testing and 
verification on product quality. In addition, a set of stringent standards for selection of suppliers with qualifications is 
in place and the specific requirements are as follows:

•	 Basic qualification requirement: Suppliers shall provide respective records of their qualifications, including 
the certificate of Unified Social Credit Number, identity card of legal person, basic information and 
financial statements of suppliers. If the supplier is a channel provider, it is also required to provide the 
qualification document proving that it is duly authorised by the manufacturers;

•	 Focus of Review: Founder Electronics will perform due diligence on basic information of suppliers and 
evaluate if their operating condition is excellent from the corporate financial statements to estimate its 
performance ability;

•	 Requirements on commercial conditions: Founder Electronics will enter into supplier contracts/agreements 
and non-corruption agreement with the suppliers who satisfy the qualification requirements. The agreements 
will specify the terms upon mutual agreement, such as the payment condition, delivery date and after-sale 
terms and will be subject to approval by the legal, operation, procurement and financial departments;

•	 Qualifications of environmental assessment: For suppliers engaging in processing, Founder Electronics 
maintains strict qualification requirement on the environmental assessment of manufacturers, otherwise such 
cooperation will not be considered;

•	 Special requirements: Founder Electronics exercises caution to a certain extent in introducing new 
suppliers, in which the differences of commercial conditions between newly introduced and the existing 
suppliers must be specified. For long-term corporate suppliers, Founder Electronics pays attention to where 
the supplier is located, whether the supplier can supply high-quality products in a long-term and stable 
manner, and whether it will continue to offer at relatively reasonable costs; while for project-specific based 
corporate suppliers, we pay attention to the degree to which the project is satisfied, such as delivery date 
and after-sales guarantee of the project, etc..

Founder Electronics will conduct regular assessment on the existing suppliers. If a supplier fails the assessment,
Founder Electronics will terminate the cooperation immediately.

Evaluation mechanism for existing cooperative suppliers
1.	 Evaluation cycle

For the suppliers in cooperation, the supplier evaluation is carried out annually. Specifically, a 
comprehensive assessment is carried out in the following year for the overall condition of the contract of 
the previous year.

2. 	 Evaluation scope
Supplier involved in the normal scope of purchasing within the year shall be subject to annual 
comprehensive evaluation.

3.	 Evaluators
According to the type of the supplier and the kind of service business, etc., each supplier shall be 
evaluated by at least 2 evaluators. At least one evaluator from non-purchasing department shall be 
included.
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2.	 Supply chain management (continued)
Evaluation mechanism for existing cooperative suppliers (continued)
4.	 Evaluation dimension

According to the different service contents of suppliers, the evaluation dimensions of suppliers include but 
are not limited to the aspects of quality, price, service, delivery, business qualification, etc..

5.	 Evaluation report
After the evaluation of the suppliers, the evaluation report shall be submitted to the vice president and chief 
financial officer of the Company for approval and filing.

Selecting criteria for suppliers that meet environmental protection products and services
1.	 In relation to product solution, according to the requirements of national environmental protection policies 

in the field, enterprises meeting environmental protection requirements shall be selected for strategic 
cooperation, and relevant products meeting environmental protection requirements shall be used, or 
equipped with environmental protection, so as to provide customers with high-quality products in the form 
of comprehensive solutions.

2.	 Product suppliers in special fields shall provide relevant certification recognized by the field such as 
3C certification, quality management system certification, etc. before the first cooperation. If there is no 
relevant certification, the approval for new supplier introduction will not be passed.

3.	 For products delivered in short distance, on the premise of ensuring product quality and safety, unnecessary 
packaging materials will be reduced so as to reduce procurement costs on the one hand and save 
resources on the other hand. The relevant implementation and supervision of this part can be reflected 
through the optimization of case’s procurement cost.

4.	 For the strategic co-operative suppliers that supplying the liquated products, it will be requested to alter 
the quality and specification of the products, under the predominance status and market satisfaction of the 
Group. By using the environmental materials which are difficult to damage and increasing the capacity of 
specification packing material will be reduced in the mass. In addition, the decreased volume of delivery 
can be achieved by further altering the ordering habit of customers, changing the order mode of high-
frequency-low-capacity to low-frequency-appropriate-amount.

5.	 Concerning the situation of damaged and hurt to environment during the transportation, the Group 
will increase the strength of management towards the suppliers. The goods should be insured in light 
of appropriate proportion before delivery. If the situation of the damage still exists, the procurement 
department should inform the business department immediately in order to claim the equal or above-equal 
compensation cooperatively towards the suppliers and alert the attention of suppliers. Furthermore, grade 
deducting will be conducted in the suppliers’ annual evaluation by examining from the after-sale defection 
record.

6.	 For production-oriented suppliers, field inspection shall be carried out before the introduction. The 
requirements of the inspectors include not only the personnel of product technical direction, but also 
personnel of procurement. The key points of the inspection shall include: production environment 
management, production personnel management, production equipment management, production 
efficiency management, etc., and meeting minutes shall be formed according to the investigation process 
and results. After the supplier passes the inspection, it will be reflected when the supplier is officially 
introduced.

7.	 For product services, if there is no need for on-site solution, remote solutions such as network and telephone 
are preferred in order to void waste of human and material resources.
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3.	 Source of suppliers
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4.	 Product responsibility
Printing development promoted by innovation products
Founder Electronics is always committed to research and development of innovative products, with a view to 
providing customers with leading information processing technology, products, solutions and value-added services 
with high efficiency and quality through enhancement in service quality of business and advanced technologies. In 
2020, the Company continued to deepen its strategic goal of realizing POD service (on-demand publishing) for 
PRC’s publishing industry, aiming at promoting the current situation of lagging behind in the process of intelligence 
and automation in the industry by pouring the resources. A comprehensive solution which is suitable for POD on-
demand printing system has been constructed, specifically including:

•	 Jieying P5600 digital inkjet production line (桀鷹P5600數位噴墨生產線): an industrial grading 
piezoelectric nozzle on demand, the first-to-none paper circuit design, a brand new structure of inkjet 
module, an open interface standards.

•	 Founder Yunshu Cloud Platform for Books and Periodicals Production (方正雲舒書刊製作雲平台): build 
a digital management platform for book production process, and get through the publishing and printing 
chain.

•	 New Generation of On-Demand Intelligent Production System (新一代按需智慧生產體系): using digital 
printing, information and communication technology to realize the connection between people and things, 
to help enterprises construct flexible, efficient and intelligent work paradigm.

For the press, publishing and printing industries, the promotion of the progress of the industry with technique and 
technology has always been the company’s diligent pursuit, tireless exploration and development goals. In the 
future, Founder Electronics will build a Chinese version of the intelligent and digital on-demand printing factory, 
through the Internet cloud service platform to form an integrated information system as a whole with publishers and 
distributors.

The Group is in strict compliance with the stringent requirements laid down by the national and local regulatory 
authorities on customer services and products. Founder Electronics, adhering to the principle of being customer-
oriented, has developed a stringent system on controlling product quality in addition to the legal requirements, 
checking every process in respect of products and services to ensure steady and reliable quality of products, so as 
to provide the best customer service experience.

The main business of the Group is research and development of software, and there is no major production activity 
related to hardware, the products thus are not polluted to the environment and do not involve in the environmental 
protection issues. During the reporting period, there were no products sold or delivered that need to be reclaimed 
for safety and health reasons and no complaints about products and services sold.

Handling procedures for customer complaints
The Group’s handling procedures for customer complaints has the following correspondent management process, 
which describe the acceptance of customer complaints, handling of complaints, supervision of the handling 
process, confirmation of complaint results and analysis of complaints, etc., so as to ensure the timely and efficient 
handling of complaints.
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4.	 Product responsibility (continued)
Handling procedures for customer complaints (continued)
Complaints’ acceptance and recording
The business support department has set up a complaint hotline, fax and mailbox, where a specially assigned 
person (customer service specialist) handles complaints from customers about the company’s products, services, 
sales and other aspects. The customer service specialist shall fill in the “complaint acceptance record form” in a 
timely and detailed manner to record the information and handling process of complaints from the beginning of 
accepting complaints from customers.

Handling of complaints
Handling of complaints by responsible department
The business support department shall determine the department responsible for handling the complaint and 
submit the complaint to the relevant responsible person. The responsible department includes the relevant business 
departments, regions and business departments involved in the leftover problems and complaints. The person in 
charge of handling must complete the problem analysis, preliminarily decision plan and notify the customer and 
business support department within 2 working days to ensure that the complaints are handled as soon as possible. 
The person in charge of handling shall coordinate the relevant departments to implement the solutions and timely 
inform the business support department of the service center concerning the development. If necessary, the business 
support department can participate in coordinating and solving problems.

Tracking the process by Business support department
The business support department shall follow up and supervise the handling process, and the frequency of follow-
up shall be determined according to the solution provided by the person in charge of handling, and coordinate 
with the customer if necessary.

The handling results for complaint
When the complaint is solved, the business support department will communicates with the customer to obtain 
the customer’s approval. The complaint will be filed when the handling result is approved by the customer. The 
business support department shall coordinate with the person in charge of handling if the handling result is not 
accepted by customer. If no agreement is reached by the customer and the person in charge of handling, the 
director of the business support department shall give handling opinions according to the investigation, and the 
general manager of the service center shall give handling opinions in case of serious problems. If the customer 
does not accept the final solution or adopt other solutions such as appeal, or arbitration, the business support 
department can terminate the coordination and the follow-up of this complaint.

After-complaint
After handling each complaint, the business support department shall sort out the complaint record, summarize 
and analyze the complaint, and form a report to the relevant management. The Group’s management process 
for handling customer complaints complies with the requirements of ISO 9001 quality control system. During the 
reporting year, the Group received 0 complaint.

Protection on intellectual property
The Group has developed an internal patent application process in which the patent review committee of 
the technology management department assists in reviewing the writing and the submission of application for 
technical patent documents, and employs an external patent agent to assist in patent application, so as to protect 
the intellectual property of the Group. In addition, the Group will conduct annual assessment on patents every 
year, abandon invalid patents, and carry out patent early warning locally and abroad from time to time to avoid 
infringement and being infringed. The Group also applies for and protects intellectual property in accordance with 
the Patent Law of the PRC, the Trademark Law of the PRC and the Copyright Law of the PRC.
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4.	 Product responsibility (continued)
Verification process for product quality
The Group has developed “Test Regulations (測試規程)” internally, with a special team to verify the quality of 
software products. The verification process includes test planning, test implementation, test evaluation and program 
error handling post-product release, so as to ensure customers to receive high-quality products.

Protection on customer data
The relevant customer data is stored and maintained in the enterprise resource planning system (ERP). The Group 
sets the access authority of the corresponding operation module. Unauthorized personnel cannot access and use 
the customer data, and the aforesaid operation does not involve the export of customer so that the customers are 
protected.

5.	 Anti-corruption
The Group firmly opposes corruption, favoritism and irregularities. To eliminate corruption and deceit and 
uphold the principle of impartiality and integrity, Founder Electronics has formulated a series of standards and 
regulations to eliminate such acts in every business. Staff is prohibited from accepting advantages from suppliers, 
customers, colleagues and others when performing duties. The Group is also committed to promoting the style of 
honesty and justice, setting up the “management rules for business ethics and integrity construction (商業道德及
廉潔建設管理規則)” in which the specific requirements and management mechanism for integrity construction 
have been specified to prevent corruption, and requiring staff to comply with the ethical standards and develop 
business adhering to the highest standard of integrity, so as to enhance the overall integrity of the Group. During 
the reporting period, there were no legal cases regarding corruption practices brought against the Group or its 
employees.

Measures and trainings on Anti-corruption
Enrolled employees of the Group are required to participate in the training of business ethics and incorruptibility 
construction according to the training arrangement for new employees. In daily work, the heads of each 
department shall publicize and implement the business ethics and incorruptibility construction requirements of their 
own employees or in the business scope under their administration. The legal department will also carry out the 
corresponding training of business ethics and incorruptibility construction from time to time every year.

Compliance training
During the training in “Successful Start for New Staff”, the Group mainly carried out compliance training, which 
involves the popularization of some common legal knowledge, emphasizing law-abiding and discipline abiding, 
and not conducting illegal things such as encroachment on occupation, misappropriation of funds, bribery and 
so on. In addition, the Group also regularly carried out the class or issued guidance documents for employees to 
learn by themselves.

Reporting mechanism
The Group encourages employees to report the possible corruption of the company. Employees and departments 
of the Group both have the right and obligation to report the violations concerning such behaviours. Employees 
can directly file the complaint with materials to the working team of risk management.

The working team of risk management is the administrator for business ethics and incorruptibility construction. 
Employees can directly report the complaint with materials to the working team of risk management. The working 
team accepts complaints of corruption, conducts independent investigation on corruption, and gives handling 
opinions on the investigation results.
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IV.	 SOCIAL WELFARE
The Company is always committed to serving and contributing to the society by proactively participating in various public 
services. As a leading enterprise in the modern printing and media technology in China, Founder Electronics has made 
strenuous efforts in understanding the needs of society, sharing the results of technological innovation and research and 
development of the Company with the society. It also enhanced the cultural development of the society by organising 
activities involving social education, cultural diffusion and internet, so as to promote social civilisation.

Inclusive education
In the field of education, Founder Electronics helps “Inclusive Education and Educational Equity” (普惠教育和教育公
平). Under the guidance and support of the Department of Language and Text Information Management of the Ministry 
of Education (教育部語言文字信息管理司) and the National Centre for Educational Technology (中央電化教育館), 
Founder Electronics has continuously carried out the Project of Ink Rhyme Wisdom and Calligraphy entered into campus 
by education out of poverty and with assistance of science and technology (“教育扶貧科技助力－墨韻智能•書法
進校園助力項目”) (hereinafter referred to as “Ink Rhyme Wisdom Project”) (墨韻智能項目), which aimed to inheriting 
and developing of traditional Chinese calligraphy culture, through utilizing the technical achievements of “Artificial 
Wisdom + Calligraphy Teaching” (人工智能+書法教學), Founder calligraphy provided calligraphy education support to 
thousands of schools in underdeveloped areas of the country, thus promoted regional overall establishment and opening 
of calligraphy courses, and solved the practical problems such as the shortage of “Professional Calligraphy” teachers in 
current calligraphy education.

In August 2020, the third phase of Ink Rhyme Wisdom Project (墨韻智能項目) was started to provide targeted calligraphy 
education and teaching support for schools in economically underdeveloped areas and the areas with weak calligraphy 
education. It will become an emerging force to locally promote the development of balanced education and quality-
oriented education, improve the level of informationalization of education, helping education out of poverty.

The year of 2020 was the final year to win the all-round victory of the “fight against poverty”. The third phrase of 
Ink Rhyme Wisdom Project provided the targeted assistance to nearly 6,000 schools in total in 36 poverty-stricken 
counties and 34 districts with weak calligraphy education. The Group hopes to enhance the effectiveness of the Project, 
continue to promote caligraphy education and provide effective informationlization support for the competent education 
department. With the help of teaching tools and services, districts and counties were able to arrange diversified classes, 
including brush caligraphy classes, handwriting classes and Chinese calligraphy classes in an all-round way and helped 
the aided areas to win the victory to the battle of “fight against poverty” by education.

The launching ceremony of third phase of Ink Rhyme Wisdom Project
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The training session of third phase of Ink Rhyme Wisdom Project

The scene for launching ceremony of “Beauty in Chinese Calligraphy-Exquisite Chinese Font Library Project Charity Program”

Cultural contribution
In the field of culture, Founder Electronics actively promotes the integration of calligraphy art, information technology and 
application for Chinese character, and innovatively promotes the inheritance and development of Chinese character 
culture. In the project of “Exquisite Chinese Font Library Project (中華精品字庫工程)” which is supported by the Project 
of “Heritage and Development of Excellent Chinese Tradition and Culture (中華優秀傳統文化傳承發展工程)”, Founder 
Electronics is responsible for the development of font library for the masterpieces of classical calligraphers under the 
guidance of the China Federation of Literary and Art Circles and the State Language Commission, and the Chinese 
Calligrapher Association is responsible for the selection and quality auditing of the developed fonts. In order to make 
popular the calligraphy classics, integrate the Exquisite Chinese Font Library into the public life, enable the social 
public welfare and enhance the visual aesthetics of public welfare propaganda, the plan namely “Beauty in Chinese 
Calligraphy-Exquisite Chinese Font Library Project Charity Program (字美中華－中華精品字庫工程公益應用計劃)” was 
launched officially in September 2020. The plan grants 5-year using authorization for the first 15 fonts of the “Exquisite 
Chinese Font Library Project” for public welfare organizations, press and publishing units, government agencies, schools 
and individuals for non-commercial use. In addition, the certificates for Font Library authorization were awarded to the first 
batch of 9 news media, public welfare organizations and school users that had obtained the public welfare authorization 
of the Font Library for free.
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Certificates for font library authorization awarded to the first batch of 9 organizations

The support for anti-epidemic – Orange power of Founder Electronics
As an important technical partner of the media publishing industry, Founder Electronics applied its unique “Orange Power” 
to help to fight the epidemic. During the epidemic period, Founder Electronics provided a variety of products and services 
for the society for free, such as “Cloud Service Platform of Founder Academic Publishing (方正學術出版雲服務平台)”, 
“Founder Intelligent Auxiliary Proofreading System (方正智能輔助審校系統)”, etc., which supported to return to work and 
production, and provided Founder Flying online authorized teaching services to actively respond to the call for “suspension 
of class without suspension of learning”. In addition, Founder Electronics has opened up more than 1,000 Chinese fonts 
in Founder Font Library for public use and launched a series of anti-epidemic welfare publicity posters for free use in 
cooperation with Mu Du Shu Sheng (木瀆書聲) and Journal of Strong Nation (期刊強國). In November 2020, Founder 
Electronics donated 100 sets of Founder Intelligent Proofreading software to the publishing industry in Hubei Province to 
acknowledge “Hero city of anti-epidemic” and worked with colleagues of Hubei publishing industry to promote the digital 
transformation of the Hubei publishing industry.
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Founder Electronics has opened up more than thousands of Chinese fonts in Founder Font Library to support anti-epidemic publicity

In cooperation with Mu Du Shu Sheng (木瀆書聲) and Journal of Strong Nation (期刊強國), Founder Electronics launched a series of 
public welfare anti-epidemic publicity posters for free

Founder Electronics donated 100 sets of Founder Intelligent Proofreading software to the publishing industry in Hubei Province
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V.	 AN OVERVIEW OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
Pursuant to the Appendix 27 of Listing Rules, the Company has complied with the relevant laws and regulations of 
Environmental, Social and Governance Indicator as follows:

Environmental, Social and 
Governance Aspect Compliance with National Laws and Regulations Internal Policies

A Environmental Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of  
  Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes 
Law of the PRC on the Environmental Protection

–

B1 Employment Labour Law of the PRC
Labour Contract Law of the PRC 
Social Insurance Law of the PRC 
Prohibition of Child Labour Provisions
Regulation on Management of Housing  

Provident Fund

Management 
  Rules for Attendance 
  and Holiday

B2 Health and Safety Labour Law of the PRC 
Work Safety Law of the PRC
Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurances

The safety management rules  
  of Beijing Founder 
  Electronics Co., Ltd. 
The comprehensive emergency  
  plan for safety accidents of  
  Beijing Founder 
  Electronics Co., Ltd.

B4 Labour Standard Labour Law of the PRC
Labour Contract Law of the PRC 
Law on the Protection of Minors of the PRC
Prohibition of Child Labour Provisions

Management 
  Rules for Attendance 
  and Holiday

B5 Supply Chain Management – Supplier Introduction 
  Rules

B6 Product Responsibility Patent Law of the PRC
Copyright Law of the PRC
Trademark Law of the PRC

Testing Regulation

B7 Anti-corruption Criminal Law of the PRC
Company Law of the PRC 
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC

–

CONCLUSION AND PROSPECT
Founder Electronics will continuously invest the resources on research and development and actively promote the integration 
among technology, education and culture. During the development process of Font Library in computer and the artificial 
intelligence products on calligraphy education, Founder Electronics has invested professional human resources including font 
designers and engineers of research and development, and has continued to cultivate and train relevant professionals. At the 
same time, in the process of promoting the inheritance and development of Chinese character culture, Founder Electronics is 
actively mobilizing communication resources, giving full play to the advantages of media communication, and helping to enhance 
the attention and influence of Chinese character culture in the public.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr Cheung Shuen Lung, aged 64, is an executive director and chairman of the Company since December 2016. He is also 
the executive director and chairman of Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“PKU Resources”) (stock code: 
00618), a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Main Board”). Peking University 
Founder Group Company Limited* (北大方正集團有限公司) (“Peking Founder”) is the substantial shareholder of the Company 
and PKU Resources. He is the director of Peking Founder and is one of the founders of Peking Founder. He is also a director of 
a number of subsidiaries of the Company. He is a research fellow of the Enterprise Research Institute at Peking University and is 
an MBA alumni trainer of Peking University Guanghua School of Management. Mr Cheung is famed for his prestige and has 
extensive experience in the information technology industry in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC“).

Mr Shao Xing, aged 56, is the president and executive director of the Company since July 2016. He joined the Group in April 
2016 and has extensive experience in the operation of software development and system integration business. He is the director 
of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. He is the vice president of Peking University Founder Information Industry Group 
Co., Ltd.* (“PKU Founder Information”) (北大方正信息產業集團有限公司), the subsidiary of Peking Founder and substantial 
shareholder of the Company. He received his bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering industrial automation and master 
degree in biomedical engineering and instrument at Zhejiang University in the PRC. He is also a senior engineer in the PRC. He is 
responsible for long-term strategic development of the Group.

Professor Xiao Jian Guo, aged 64, is an executive director of the Company since April 2019. He was an executive director 
of the Company from May 2001 to December 2016 and was re-designated from Deputy Chairman of the Company to the 
Chairman of the Company on 1 March 2016. He is also the director of Peking Founder and PKU Founder Information. He is 
a director of associated companies of Peking Founder and a director of a subsidiary of the Company. He is a professor and 
a supervisor of PhD students of the Peking University. He graduated from the Department of Computer Science at the College 
of Dalian Ocean Communication with a bachelor’s degree in 1982 and obtained a master’s degree in Computer Science at 
Peking University.

Ms Zuo Jin, aged 47, is an executive director of the Company since March 2014 and the director, acting chief executive 
officer, vice president and chief financial officer of PKU Founder Information. She is the director of Founder Technology Group 
Corporation (“Founder Technology”) (方正科技集團股份有限公司) (stock code: 600601), a company in which 12.59% of 
equity interest is held by PKU Founder Information, and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. She is the director of associated 
companies of Peking Founder and a subsidiary of the Company. Ms Zuo received her bachelor’s degree in Economics at 
University of International Business and Economics in the PRC and is a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC. Prior to joining 
Peking Founder in 2003, she was a manager of an international firm of Certified Public Accountants. Ms Zuo has extensive 
knowledge and experience in financial management.

Mr Hu Bin, aged 42, is an executive director of the Company since December 2016. He is the general manager of assets 
management department of Peking Founder. He is a director of (i) China Hi-Tech Group Co., Ltd. (“China Hi-Tech”) (中國高科集
團股份有限公司) (stock code: 600730), a company in which 20.03% of equity interest is held by Peking Founder; (ii) Founder 
Securities Co., Ltd. (“Founder Securities”) (方正證券股份有限公司) (stock code: 601901), a company in which 27.75% of 
equity interest is held by Peking Founder; and (iii) Founder Technology. The shares of China Hi-Tech, Founder Securities and 
Founder Technology are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He is also a director of associated companies of Peking Founder 
and a subsidiary of the Company. Mr Hu received his bachelor’s degree in accounting at Beijing University of Technology in the 
PRC. He is a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC, member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United 
Kingdom and CFA charterholder. Prior to joining Peking Founder in 2016, he was a senior manager of an international firm of 
Certified Public Accountants. Mr Hu has extensive knowledge and experience in financial management.

*	 For identification purpose only
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Ms Liao Hang, aged 42, is an executive director of the Company since December 2016. She is the general manager of legal 
department of Peking Founder. She is the executive director of PKU Resources and the director of Founder Securities. She is the 
director of associated companies of Peking Founder and a subsidiary of the Company. Ms Liao received her bachelor’s degree 
in trading economy and economic law and master degree in economic law at Minzu University of China in the PRC. She 
obtained legal professional qualification certificate in the PRC and has extensive experience in legal professional experience.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis, aged 48, is an independent non-executive director of the Company since March 2017. He is the 
chief financial officer of Brilliant Circle Holdings International Limited (stock code: 1008), a company listed on Main Board. He 
served as an independent non-executive director of Shandong Xinhua Pharmaceutical Company Limited (山東新華製藥股份有
限公司), a company listed on the Main Board (stock code: 719) and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000756) from 
May 2014 to June 2018. Mr Chan also serves as the independent non-executive director of (i) HongGuang Lighting Holdings 
Company Limited, a company which was previously listed on the GEM (stock code: 8343) in December 2016 and was 
subsequently transferred to the Main Board (stock code: 6908) in November 2019, since December 2016; (ii) PKU Resources, 
since March 2017; (iii) Wing Chi Holdings Limited (stock code: 6080), a company listed on the Main Board, since September 
2017; and (iv) Eternity Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1725), a company listed on the Main Board, since July 2018. 
Mr Chan obtained a bachelor degree of commerce in accounting from the University of Canberra in Australia in September 
1997. He is currently a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants  (“HKICPA”) and a member of CPA 
Australia. He has extensive experience in auditing, accounting and corporate finance.

Mr Lau Ka Wing, aged 37, is an independent non-executive director of the Company since April 2020. He is the sole proprietor 
of Lau Ka Wing Certified Public Accountant since March 2015, and a practicing director of BNA CPA Limited since August 
2019. Mr Lau is an independent non-executive director of (i) Green Energy Group Limited (stock code: 979), a company listed 
on Main Board, since February 2020; and (ii) PKU Resources, since April 2020. Mr Lau joined HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng 
Limited in February 2006 and left as a manager in October 2014. Mr Lau obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Accountancy 
and a Master of Corporate Governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2005 and 2016, respectively. He is 
currently a fellow member of the HKICPA, an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate of 
the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Mr Lau is experienced in the accounting and audit fields.

Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund, aged 37, is an independent non-executive director of the Company since April 2020. He is the 
company secretary of Luxxu Group Limited (stock code: 1327), a company listed on Main Board. He is an independent non-
executive director of PKU Resources since April 2020. Mr Lai received a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Accountancy from The 
Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a member of HKICPA. He has accumulated extensive experience in auditing and 
accounting by working in various international firms of Certified Public Accountants, listed and multinational companies in Hong 
Kong such as Grant Thornton Hong Kong, BDO Hong Kong and SDM Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8363, a company 
listed on the GEM).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set 
out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during 
the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the 
financial statements on pages 63 to 149.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on the Group’s future business development, possible 
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on 
pages 4 to 11 of the annual report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note 39 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the sections 
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 11 and “Financial Highlights” on page 3 of the annual report.

Discussion on the Group’s environment policies, relationships with its employees, customers, suppliers and other key stakeholders 
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are set out in the section 
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 22 to 49 of the annual report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on page 152. This summary does not form part of the audited financial 
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
There were no movements in the Company’s share capital during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the 
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the 
year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
No contracts in respect of the management or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company 
were entered into or subsisted during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for distribution amounted to approximately HK$173,984,000. In 
addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of approximately HK$53,597,000, may be distributed in the 
form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the total sales for the year. 
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total purchase for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which, to the best 
knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interests in the Group’s 
five largest suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors:
Mr Cheung Shuen Lung
Mr Shao Xing
Professor Xiao Jian Guo
Ms Zuo Jin
Mr Hu Bin
Ms Liao Hang

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis
Mr Lau Ka Wing	 (appointed on 1 April 2020)
Mr Lai Nga Ming, Edmund	 (appointed on 1 April 2020)
Mr Li Fat Chung	 (resigned on 1 April 2020)
Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee	 (resigned on 1 April 2020)

In accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, Mr Cheung Shuen Lung, Mr Hu Bin and Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis will retire 
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from each of its independent non-executive directors, and as 
at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 50 to 51 of 
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service agreement with the Company which is 
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of the directors of the Company are determined by reference to the market rates, commitments, contribution and 
their duties and responsibilities within the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year. 
The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its directors 
and officers.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
No director nor a connected entity of a director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, 
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of the Company’s 
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES 
AND DEBENTURE
At 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the directors in the share capital, underlying shares and debenture of 
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), 
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to 
the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

Name of director Capacity and nature of interest
Number of ordinary

shares held

Percentage of
the Company’s

issued share capital
    

Mr Shao Xing Directly beneficially owned 12,053,556 1.00
    

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the directors had registered an interest or short position in the 
shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to 
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the directors of the Company had any interest in a business (other than 
those businesses where the Directors of the Company were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the Company 
and/or any member of the Group) which is considered to compete or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the 
businesses of the Group.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT 
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
At 31 December 2020, so far it is known to the directors of the Company, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued 
share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 
336 of the SFO:

Long positions:

Name Notes
Capacity and
nature of interest

Number of
ordinary

shares held

Percentage of
the Company’s

issued share
capital

     

北大資產經營有限公司

(Peking University Asset Management 
Company Limited*)

1 Through a controlled 
corporation

367,179,610 30.60

北大方正集團有限公司

(Peking University Founder Group 
Company Limited*) (“Peking Founder”)

2 Through a controlled 
corporation

367,179,610 30.60

北大方正信息產業集團有限公司

(Peking University Founder Information 
Industry Group Co., Ltd.*) 
(“PKU Founder Information”)

Directly beneficially 
owned

367,179,610 30.60

     

Notes:

1.	 Peking University Asset Management Company Limited was deemed to be interested in the 367,179,610 shares under the SFO by virtue of its 
interest in Peking Founder.

2.	 Peking Founder was deemed to be interested in the 367,179,610 shares under the SFO by virtue of its interest in PKU Founder Information.

Save as disclosed above, so far it is known to the directors of the Company, as at 31 December 2020, no person had 
registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was required to be recorded 
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Company and the Group had the following continuing connected transactions, certain details of which are 
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(a)	 On 31 January 2020, 北京北大方正電子有限公司 (Beijing Founder Electronics Co., Ltd.) (“Founder Electronics”), 北京
方正印捷數碼技術有限公司 (Beijing Founder EasiPrint Digital Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Founder EasiPrint”) and 北京方
正數字印刷技術有限公司 (Beijing Founder Digital Printing Technology Co., Ltd.*) (“Founder Digital Printing”) renewed 
the lease agreements and management agreements with the subsidiary of Peking Founder to lease the premises in Beijing 
from 1 February 2020 to 31 December 2020 with rent-free period from 1 January 2020 to 31 January 2020, for 
the total amount of rental of RMB12,365,000 and management fees of RMB4,845,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$13,908,000 and HK$5,450,000). Further details of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the 
Company dated 31 January 2020.

During the year, the management fees and rental expenses of Founder Electronics, Founder EasiPrint and Founder Digital 
Printing payable to the subsidiary of Peking Founder are approximately HK$5,450,000 (2019: HK$5,238,000) and 
HK$13,908,000 (2019: HK$10,127,000) respectively. The directors consider that the rental and management fees 
were accrued in accordance with the terms of the lease agreement.

On 29 December 2020, Founder Electronics, Founder EasiPrint and Founder Digital Printing renewed the lease 
agreements and management agreements with the subsidiary of Peking Founder to lease the premises in Beijing from 1 
January 2021 to 31 December 2021, for the total amount of rental of RMB12,365,000 and management fees of RMB 
4,845,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$13,908,000 and HK$5,450,000). Further details of the transaction were 
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 29 December 2020.

(b)	 On 3 November 2017, the Company and Peking Founder entered into a master purchase agreement for the purchase of 
information products and research and development services from Peking Founder and its subsidiaries (collectively “Peking 
Founder Group”) for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020.

During the year, products and services of approximately HK$2,575,000 (2019: HK$2,402,000) were purchased from 
Peking Founder Group. The directors consider that the purchases of products and services were made in accordance with 
the master agreements.

As the existing annual cap for 2020 set out in the master purchase agreement might not be sufficient, on 30 October 
2019, the Company and Peking Founder entered into a new master purchase agreement with term of three years for the 
period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 to replace the existing annual cap for 2020, and set up annual 
caps for 2021 and 2022. The 2017 Master Purchase Agreement terminated on 31 December 2019. Further details of 
the transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 October 2019.

(c)	 On 25 October 2018, the Company and Peking Founder renewed a master sales agreement with Peking Founder for 
the sales of information products, hardware and software development services and system integration services to Peking 
Founder Group for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021. Further details of the transaction were set out 
in the announcement of the Company dated 25 October 2018.
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During the year, sales of information products, hardware and software development services and system integration 
services of approximately HK$1,156,000 (2019: HK$7,205,000) were made to Peking Founder Group. The directors 
consider that the sales of information products and system integration services were made in accordance with the master 
sales agreement.

(d)	 On 25 October 2016, the Company renewed an entrusted loan master agreement with Peking Founder, pursuant to 
which the Group would provide short term loans through a financial institution to Peking Founder Group for the three 
years ending 31 December 2019. Such loans are unsecured and interest-bearing at the prevailing benchmark Renminbi 
lending rate for a loan period of six months offered by the PBOC plus 15%. Further details of the transaction were set out 
in the announcement of the Company dated 25 October 2016.

On 30 October 2019, the Company renewed an entrusted loan master agreement with Peking Founder, pursuant to 
which the Group would provide short term loans through a financial institution to Peking Founder Group for the three years 
ending 31 December 2022. Such loans will be unsecured and interest-bearing at the prevailing benchmark Renminbi 
lending rate for a loan period of six months offered by the PBOC plus 15%. Further details of the transaction were set out 
in the announcement of the Company dated 30 October 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, entrusted loans in the amounts of RMB370,000,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$412,180,000) and RMB7,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$7,798,000) were provided 
to Peking Founder and Peking Founder Handwriting Digital Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Founder Handwriting”), a subsidiary 
of Peking Founder, respectively. The entrusted loans are unsecured and bear interest at rates ranging from 7.0% to 
8.0% per annum. The entrusted loans lent to Peking Founder were settled on 25 September 2019 as to the amount of 
RMB370,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$412,180,000). The entrusted loan lent to Founder Handwriting 
were settled on 5 August 2019 as to the amount of RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,342,000), 7 
November 2019 as to the amount of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,228,000) and 9 December 
2019 as to the amount of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,228,000). Subsequent to the settlement, 
the entrusted loans in amount of RMB370,000,000 and RMB7,000,000 were lent to Peking Founder and Founder 
Handwriting again. As at 31 December 2019, the entrusted loans in the aggregate amount of RMB377,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$419,978,000) and the related interest receivable of RMB5,605,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$6,244,000) were included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables. 

After considering the operating and financial position of Peking Founder and Founder Handwriting, provision for impairment 
in the aggregate amount of RMB382,605,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$426,222,000) was made by the 
Company in 2019, please refer to note 21 to the financial statements for more details.

The entrusted loans lent to Founder Handwriting were settled on 3 February 2020 as to the amount of RMB3,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,342,000), 25 May 2020 as to the amount of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$2,228,000) and 5 June 2020 as to the amount of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$2,228,000). The provision for impairment in the amount of RMB7,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$7,798,000) was reversed in 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, entrusted loans in amount of RMB7,500,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$8,910,000) were provided to Founder Handwriting, which were settled on 25 May 2020.
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As at 31 December 2020, the outstanding entrusted loans in the aggregate amount of RMB370,000,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$439,560,000) and the related interest receivable of RMB5,591,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$6,642,000) receivable from Peking Founder remained outstanding and the provision for impairment in the aggregate 
amount of RMB375,591,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$446,202,000) remained unchange.

During the year, interest income earned by the Group from Founder Handwriting amounted to HK$335,000 (2019: from 
Peking Founder and Founder Handwriting amounted to HK$26,253,000).

The directors consider that the provision of entrusted loans and the receipt of interest income from Peking Founder and 
Founder Handwriting were made in accordance with the entrusted loan master agreement.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the continuing connected transactions as set out above 
and have confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business 
of the Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge whether they are on 
normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent 
third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in 
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance 
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under 
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their 
unqualified letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by 
the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the Company 
to the Stock Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the 
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS
Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting. The Company has not changed its auditor in the preceding three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Cheung Shuen Lung
Chairman

Hong Kong
30 March 2021

*	 For identification purpose only
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Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

安永會計師事務所

香港中環添美道1號
中信大廈22樓

Tel 電話: +852 2846 9888
Fax 傳真: +852 2868 4432
ey.com

To the shareholders of Founder Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Founder Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”) set out on pages 63 to 149, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each 
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of 
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion 
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Valuation of land and buildings and investment properties
The Group measures its land and buildings and investment 
properties at fair value: as at 31 December 2020, the 
carrying amounts of these properties were HK$313,921,000 
and HK$142,923,000, respectively, which in aggregate 
represented 30% of the Group’s total assets. The fair value 
measurement of these properties is subjective and requires 
management to make significant estimates. To assist with their 
determination of the fair value, management engaged external 
property valuation appraisers to perform the valuations. The 
valuations are based on various assumptions, such as estimated 
rental revenues, discount rates, market knowledge and historical 
transactions.

Relevant disclosures are included in Note 2.4 “Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies”, Note 3 “Significant Accounting 
Judgements and Estimates” , Note 12 “Property, Plant and 
Equipment” and Note 13 “Investment Properties” to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included the evaluation of the quality, 
objectivity, independence and expertise of the external 
property valuation appraisers, and the selected property-
related information (such as, location, age, area, rental 
income, etc.) used for the valuation. In addition, we assessed 
the underlying assumptions through comparison with available 
external data. We also involved our internal valuation 
specialists to assist us in assessing the valuation model and the 
parameters used.

We also focused on the adequacy of the disclosures of the 
valuation of the land and buildings and investment properties 
in the financial statements.

Impairment of trade receivables
As at 31 December 2020, the carry ing amounts of 
trade receivables before provision for impairment were 
HK$231,664,000, which were included in the amounts of 
trade and bills receivables. The Group recognises an impairment 
provision based on the expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach 
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The measurement of ECLs 
requires the application of significant judgement and estimates, 
such as the expected future cash flows and forward-looking 
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. As 
at 31 December 2020, the impairment provision recorded for 
trade receivables was HK$49,612,000.

Relevant disclosures are included in Note 2.4 “Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies”, Note 3 “Significant Accounting 
Judgements and Estimates” and Note 19 “Trade and Bills 
Receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included the assessment of the design, 
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal 
controls which govern credit control, debt collection and 
estimate of ECLs.

We assessed the reasonableness of ECL determined by 
management by examining the information used to form such 
judgement and estimates, including the historical default 
information, and the historical loss rates as adjusted for current 
economic conditions and forward-looking information.

We evaluated the reasonableness of the provision for 
impairment of trade receivables by reference to the Group’s 
subsequent collection.

We also reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures of 
impairment of trade receivables in the financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We 
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.
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•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wong Man Kit.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2021
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2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

REVENUE 5 936,545 1,058,424

Cost of sales (492,689) (536,786)
    

Gross profit 443,856 521,638

Other income and gains 5 66,096 94,415
Selling and distribution expenses (203,556) (235,855)
Administrative expenses (81,824) (96,167)
Other expenses, net (170,891) (624,167)
Finance costs 7 (1,594) (9,538)
Share of profits of associates 142 145

    

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6 52,229 (349,529)

Income tax 10 1,668 110,739
    

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 53,897 (238,790)
    

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 53,897 (238,790)

    

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE  
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted 11 HK4.5 cents HK(19.9) cents
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 53,897 (238,790)
      

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassified  
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of associates 15 335 (55)
      

335 (55)

Exchange differences:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 42,717 (11,245)

      

42,717 (11,245)

Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be reclassified to  
profit or loss in subsequent periods 43,052 (11,300)

      

Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to  
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
Changes in fair value of equity investments at fair value through  

other comprehensive income 16 (747) (4,115)
Revaluation surplus of land and buildings, net of tax 8,666 9,886

      

Net other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to  
profit or loss in subsequent periods 7,919 5,771

      

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR,  
NET OF TAX 50,971 (5,529)

      

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 104,868 (244,319)
      

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 104,868 (244,319)
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2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 12 336,072 324,301
Investment properties 13 142,923 146,184
Right-of-use assets 14(a) 2,550 2,805
Investments in associates 15 3,111 2,634
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 16 1,902 2,641
Intangible assets 17 – –
Deferred tax assets 29 125,038 115,793
Pledged deposits 24 3,188 4,109
    

Total non-current assets 614,784 598,467
    

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 18 75,400 71,131
Trade and bills receivables 19 199,897 178,019
Contract assets 20 16,317 17,334
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 21 59,902 78,453
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 23 387 563
Structured deposits 22 178,359 –
Pledged deposits 24 6,777 10,123
Cash and cash equivalents 24 363,785 553,866
Tax recoverable – 1,186
    

Total current assets 900,824 910,675
    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and bills payables 25 67,950 62,040
Contract liabilities 26 69,116 77,385
Other payables and accruals 27 264,549 255,080
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 28 – 107,093
Lease liabilities 14(b) 1,724 1,979
Tax payable 4,785 7,157
    

Total current liabilities 408,124 510,734
    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 492,700 399,941
    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,107,484 998,408
    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities 14(b) 438 460
Deferred tax liabilities 29 60,796 56,566
    

Total non-current liabilities 61,234 57,026
    

Net assets 1,046,250 941,382
    



FOUNDER HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 202066

31 DECEMBER 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued capital 30 119,975 119,975
Reserves 32 926,275 821,407
    

Total equity 1,046,250 941,382
    

Cheung Shuen Lung Shao Xing
Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the parent
 

Issued
capital

Share
premium
account

Contributed
surplus

Land and
buildings

revaluation
reserve

Equity 
investments

at fair value
through other

comprehensive
income 

revaluation
reserve

Exchange
fluctuation

reserve
General
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
          

At 31 December 2018 119,975 53,597 867,910 249,287 (7,294) (19,055) 79,868 (158,587) 1,185,701
Loss for the year – – – – – – – (238,790) (238,790)
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Revaluation surplus of land and buildings,  
net of tax – – – 9,886 – – – – 9,886

Change in equity investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income – – – – (4,115) – – – (4,115)

Share of other comprehensive loss of 
associates – – – – – (55) – – (55)

Exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations – – – – – (11,245) – – (11,245)

          

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – 9,886 (4,115) (11,300) – (238,790) (244,319)

Transfer of revaluation reserve of land and 
buildings to accumulated losses – – – (7,939) – – – 7,939 –

          

At 31 December 2019 119,975 53,597* 867,910* 251,234* (11,409)* (30,355)* 79,868* (389,438)* 941,382
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the parent
 

Issued
capital

Share
premium
account

Contributed
surplus

Land and
buildings

revaluation
reserve

Equity 
investments
at fair value

through other
comprehensive

income 
revaluation

reserve

Exchange
fluctuation

reserve
General
reserve

Accumulated
losses Total equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
          

At 31 December 2019 119,975 53,597* 867,910* 251,234* (11,409)* (30,355)* 79,868* (389,438)* 941,382
Profit for the year – – – – – – – 53,897 53,897
Other comprehensive income for the year:

Revaluation surplus of land and buildings,  
net of tax – – – 8,666 – – – – 8,666

Change in equity investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income – – – – (747) – – – (747)

Share of other comprehensive income of  
associates – – – – – 335 – – 335

Exchange differences on translation of  
foreign operations – – – – – 42,717 – – 42,717

          

Total comprehensive profit for the year – – – 8,666 (747) 43,052 – 53,897 104,868

Transfer of revaluation reserve of land and 
buildings to accumulated losses – – – (8,633) – – – 8,633 –

          

At 31 December 2020 119,975 53,597* 867,910* 251,267* (12,156)* 12,697* 79,868* (326,908)* 1,046,250
          

*	 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$926,275,000 (2019: HK$821,407,000) in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax 52,229 (349,529)
Adjustments for:

Finance costs 7 1,594 9,538
Share of profits of associates (142) (145)
Interest income 5 (7,649) (32,568)
Fair value losses on investment properties 6 3,756 4,985
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 5 (26) (609)
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss 6 (14) 240
Fair value gains on structured deposits 6 (1,305) –
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 (248) –
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets 6 5,063 9,236
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors 14 (301) –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6 18,870 19,158
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6 2,739 2,209
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of other receivables and  

other assets 6 (7,977) 436,580
Write-off of inventories 6 1,753 1,434
Provision for obsolete inventories 6 3,599 2,383

    

71,941 102,912

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (9,621) 18,621
Decrease in contract assets 1,784 30,713
Increase in trade and bills receivables (27,708) (50,599)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other receivables and other assets 17,857 (35,851)
Decrease in contract liabilities (8,269) (8,988)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables 5,910 (7,947)
Increase in other payables and accruals 9,469 8,947
Exchange differences (4,022) 2,832
    

Cash generated from operations 57,341 60,640
Interest received 7,314 6,315
Interest paid (1,473) (9,394)
Interest element of finance lease rental payments (121) (144)
Hong Kong profits tax recovered 1,206 –
Corporate income tax paid in the Mainland of the People’s Republic of 

China (“Mainland China” or the “PRC”) (4,086) (2,398)
    

Net cash flows from operating activities 60,181 55,019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 335 20,968
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (3,825) (4,327)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 71 1,264
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (117) –
Purchase of structured deposits (475,200) –
Proceeds from disposal of structure deposits 298,146 –
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss 555 –
Decrease/(increase) in non-pledged time deposits with original  

maturity of more than three months when acquired 77,803 (1,123)
Advances of entrusted loans to related companies (8,910) (832,158)
Advances of other loans to a related company – (2,228)
Repayment of entrusted loans from related companies 17,226 832,500
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits 4,267 (1,355)
    

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities (89,649) 13,541
    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank loans – 140,364
Repayment of bank loans (114,207) (191,843)
Principal portion of lease payments (2,081) (2,002)
    

Net cash flows used in financing activities (116,288) (53,481)
    

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (145,756) 15,079
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 476,063 471,542
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 33,478 (10,558)
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 363,785 476,063
    

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 24 237,966 425,197
Non-pledged time deposits 125,819 128,669
    

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of 
financial position 363,785 553,866

Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of more than  
three months when acquired – (77,803)

    

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement of 
cash flows 363,785 476,063
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1.	 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Founder Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of 
the Company is located at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda. The head office and principal 
place of business of the Company is located at Unit 1408, 14th Floor, Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, 
New Territories, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in 
software development, system integration and the distribution of information products.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

Issued ordinary/
registered
share capital

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect
      

Founder (Hong Kong) Limited  
(“Founder HK”)

Hong Kong Ordinary  
HK$977,974,378

100 – Information product 
distribution and 
investment holding

北京北大方正電子有限公司

Beijing Founder Electronics Co., Ltd. 
(“Founder Electronics”)#

PRC/Mainland China Registered  
HK$230 million

– 100 Software development, 
system integration and 
information product 
distribution

北京方正印捷數碼技術有限公司 
(Beijing Founder EasiPrint Digital 
Technology Co., Ltd.@)  
(“Founder EasiPrint”)^

PRC/Mainland China Registered  
RMB50 million

– 100 Software development 
and information product 
distribution

北京方正數字印刷技術有限公司  
(Beijing Founder Digital Printing 
Technology Co., Ltd.@)  
(FounderDigital Printing) ^

PRC/Mainland China Registered  
RMB5 million

– 100 Information product 
distribution

Founder Electronics (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100 Information product 
distribution

Royal Bright Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100 Property holding

Royal Leader Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100 Property holding

Royal Power Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100 Property holding

Sharp Century Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100 Property holding

PUC Founder (M) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Ordinary 
RM500,000

– 100 Investment holding
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1.	 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)
@	 For identification purposes only

#	 Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law

^	 Registered as limited liability companies under PRC law

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results 
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in 
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2.1	 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) 
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles 
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have 
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment properties, land and buildings classified as 
property, plant and equipment, equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, bills receivable, 
structured deposits and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value. These 
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when 
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year 
ended 31 December 2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by 
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the 
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a)	 the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b)	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c)	 the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent 
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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2.1	 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group 
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the 
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without 
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded 
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained 
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be 
required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 and the following new and revised 
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (early adopted)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
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2.2	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are 
described below:

(a)	 Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive 
set of concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and provides guidance for preparers of financial 
statements in developing consistent accounting policies and assistance to all parties to understand and interpret 
the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on measurement and reporting financial 
performance, new guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and updated definitions and recognition 
criteria for assets and liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty 
in financial reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of the concepts contained therein 
override the concepts or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual Framework did not have any significant 
impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.

(b)	 Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments 
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, 
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A business 
can exist without including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove 
the assessment of whether market participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue to produce 
outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly 
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on 
goods or services provided to customers, investment income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, 
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional 
fair value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is 
not a business. The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to transactions or other events that occurred 
on or after 1 January 2020. The amendments did not have any impact on the financial position and performance 
of the Group.

(c)	 Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address issues affecting financial reporting in the period before 
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments 
provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before 
the introduction of the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments require companies to provide additional 
information to investors about their hedging relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The 
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position and performance of the Group as the Group does 
not have any interest rate hedging relationships.
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2.2	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)
(d)	 Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification 

accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. The practical 
expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the pandemic and only if (i) the 
change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less 
than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in lease payments 
affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no substantive change to other 
terms and conditions of the lease. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 
2020 with earlier application permitted and shall be applied retrospectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a quarterly lease payment for the lease of the Group’s warehouse 
has been reduced or waived by the lessor as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and there are no other changes 
to the terms of the lease. The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1 January 2020 and elected not to 
apply lease modification accounting for all rent concessions granted by the lessors as a result of the pandemic 
during the year ended 31 December 2020. Accordingly, a reduction in the lease payments arising from the rent 
concessions of HK$301,129 has been accounted for as a variable lease payment by derecognising part of the 
lease liabilities and crediting to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020.

(e)	 Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of material. The new definition states that 
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions 
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. 
The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of information, or both. The 
amendments did not have any significant impact on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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2.3	 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in 
these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, 
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 21

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture4

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3, 6

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current3, 5

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use2

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract2

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples 
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 412

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
4	 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
5	 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification by 

the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the corresponding 
wording with no change in conclusion

6	 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary 
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in 
June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its 
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a 
liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an entity applying 
HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, 
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects 
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to business 
combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by 
these amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3	 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous 
amendments which affect financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative 
RFR. The Phase 2 amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be updated without 
adjusting the carrying amount when accounting for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of 
financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and the new 
basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately preceding 
the change. In addition, the amendments permit changes required by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to 
hedge designations and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains or losses 
that could arise on transition are dealt with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge 
ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable 
requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows an entity, upon designation of the 
hedge, to assume that the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk 
component to become separately identifiable within the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to 
disclose additional information to enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark 
reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management strategy. The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are not required to restate the 
comparative information.

The Group had no interest-bearing bank or other borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars and foreign currencies 
based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as at 31 December 
2020.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in 
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor 
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, 
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated 
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous 
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting for 
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify 
that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity 
has a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that 
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of 
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is 
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3	 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any 
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant and equipment made available 
for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies 
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the 
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the 
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract 
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other 
costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, 
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and supervision costs). General and 
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the 
counterparty under the contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 
and shall be applied to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual 
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially 
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application 
without restating the comparative information. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the 
Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 sets out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples 
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group 
are as follows:

•	 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new 
or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees 
include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by 
either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are 
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies 
the amendment. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier 
application is permitted. The amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

•	 HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in 
Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of 
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting 
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made 
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, respectively. 
In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group 
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised 
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of 
an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as 
part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not 
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss 
of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any 
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon 
loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is 
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with 
HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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Fair value measurement
The Group measures its land and buildings, investment properties, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
structured deposits, bills receivable and equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income at the end 
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset 
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal 
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using 
the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants 
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than 
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs 
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to 
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the 
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in 
the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment 
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)	 the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Related parties (continued)
(b)	 the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary 
of the other entity);

(iii)	 the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 
related to the Group;

(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to 
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of 
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where 
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset 
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the 
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from 
its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with as movements in a revaluation 
reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess of the deficit is 
charged to the statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss 
to the extent of the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the asset revaluation surplus to accumulated losses 
is made for the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the assets and depreciation 
based on its original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in 
respect of previous valuations is transferred to losses as a movement in reserves.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to 
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms
Leasehold improvements 20% or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20% to 331/3%
Machinery and equipment 12.5% to 20%
Motor vehicles 10% to 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is 
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives 
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal 
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties
Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather 
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary 
course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting 
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the statement of profit or 
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for 
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy 
stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for such property in 
accordance with the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of change 
in use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as 
a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed 
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life 
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial 
year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating 
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed 
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life 
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patents and licences
Purchased patents and patent application rights are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of three years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, 
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, 
the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the 
development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line basis 
over the commercial lives of the underlying products not exceeding three years, commencing from the date when the 
products are put into commercial production.

Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if 
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the 
right to use the underlying assets.
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Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(a)	 Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of 
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased 
asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease term.

(b)	 Lease liabilities
Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to 
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) 
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a 
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a 
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments 
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or 
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced 
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a 
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c)	 Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of properties (that is those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option). Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.
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Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as 
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset 
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted 
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its 
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are 
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting 
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the 
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain 
a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the 
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal 
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to 
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, 
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business 
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified 
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of 
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned 
business models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 
or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments)
For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation 
and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as 
for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to 
the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity investments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments designated 
at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised 
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured 
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in 
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net 
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes structured deposits, derivative instruments and equity investments which the Group had not 
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss 
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend 
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

•	 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either 
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, 
the Group continues to recognise the transferred assets to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, 
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a 
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to 
repay.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value 
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective 
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements 
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including 
historical and forward-looking information.
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are aged more than three years. However, 
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information 
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any 
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject 
to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs 
except for trade receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition 
and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but that 
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 – Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or 
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach
For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group 
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the 
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, 
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the 
debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant financing component and lease receivables, the Group 
chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings, lease liabilities and 
other financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and 
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective 
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement 
of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position 
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. 
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and 
disposal.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months 
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions 
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is 
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can 
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the 
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted 
present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of certain products for general repairs of defects occurring during 
the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties granted by the Group are recognised based on sales 
volume and past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as appropriate.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•	 when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits 
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised, except:

•	 when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•	 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will 
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can 
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset 
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to 
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each 
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income 
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the customers 
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the 
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration is 
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount 
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is 
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing 
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of 
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction 
between the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing component which 
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract 
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where 
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, 
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient in 
HKFRS 15.

(a)	 Sale of information products and software
Revenue from the sale of information products and software is recognised at the point in time when control of the 
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the information products and software.

(b)	 Sale of software development and system integration services
Revenue from the provision of software development and system integration services is recognised over time, 
using an input method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group’s 
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The 
input method recognises revenue based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total 
costs for satisfaction of the services.

Revenue from other sources
Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms.

Other income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when 
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established, it is probable 
that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be 
measured reliably.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Contract assets
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group 
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, 
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment 
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract costs
Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs 
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(a)	 The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)	 The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) 
performance obligations in the future.

(c)	 The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is 
consistent with the pattern transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs 
are expensed as incurred.

Contract liabilities
A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer 
before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group 
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Employee benefits
Pension schemes
The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit schemes for those employees who are eligible to participate. 
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of 
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the respective schemes. The assets of the schemes 
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

When an employee leaves the Mandatory Provident Fund Exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance 
retirement benefits scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing 
contributions payable by the Group will be reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited employer contributions. In respect 
of the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme, the Group’s employer mandatory contributions vest fully with 
the employees when contributed into the scheme except for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which are 
refunded to the Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with 
the rules of the scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate in a central 
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. Contributions are made based on a certain percentage 
of the participating employees’ salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in 
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits 
and when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost 
of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period 
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 
borrowing of funds.

Dividends
Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of 
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised 
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity 
in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are 
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially 
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of 
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of 
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of 
the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income 
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of 
a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the 
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance 
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each 
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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2.4	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)
The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries and associates not operating in Hong Kong are currencies other than 
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong 
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are 
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange 
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that 
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of subsidiaries not operating in Hong Kong 
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash 
flows of subsidiaries not operating in Hong Kong which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at 
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from 
those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification – Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, 
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major 
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting 
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership incidental to these properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as operating 
leases.

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options
The Group has several lease contracts that include termination options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating 
whether or not to exercise the option to terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an 
economic incentive for it to exercise the termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term 
if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to 
exercise the option to terminate the lease.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Judgements (continued)
Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied properties
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property, and has developed criteria in making that 
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group 
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some 
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for use 
in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately 
or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not 
be sold separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production 
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to 
determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are 
based on the invoice date for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix 
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast industry conditions 
are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical default 
rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is 
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. 
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a 
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets 
are disclosed in notes 19 and 20 to the financial statements, respectively.

Provision for expected credit losses on loan receivables
Impairment of loan receivables is assessed on a 12-month ECL basis when there has been no significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the 
allowances will be based on the lifetime ECL. Assessment is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, 
general conditions, external credit ratings and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as 
the forecast of future conditions. The provision for ECLs is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECLs 
on the Group’s loan receivables is disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

Fair value of structured deposits
The structured deposits with principal protected have been valued based on the expected cash flows discounted at current 
rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk characteristics. This valuation requires the Group to make estimates 
about expected future cash flows, credit risk volatility and discount rates and hence they are subject to uncertainty.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases – Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing 
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a 
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in 
a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation 
when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it 
needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s 
functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available 
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Provision for obsolete inventories
Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of the Group at the end of each reporting period, and makes 
provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sale. Management estimates 
the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions. If 
the market condition was to deteriorate so that the actual provision might be higher than expected, the Group would be 
required to revise the basis of making the provision and its future results would be affected.

Stage of completion of software development and system integration contracts
The Group recognises revenue and costs according to the stage of completion of individual contracts. The stage of 
completion is estimated by reference to the proportion of work completed to date to the estimated total work of the 
relevant contract. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken in software development and system integration 
contracts, the date at which the contract activity is entered into and the date when the activity is completed usually fall into 
different accounting periods. Management reviews and revises the estimates of both contract revenue and contract costs 
for each contract as the contract progresses.

Fair value of investment properties and land and buildings
Investment properties and land and buildings are carried in the statement of financial position at their fair values. The fair 
value was based on a valuation on the properties conducted by an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers using 
property valuation techniques which involve making assumptions on certain market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable 
changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and land 
and buildings and the corresponding adjustments to the gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss and the 
land and buildings revaluation reserve, respectively. Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair value 
measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in notes 12 and 13 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each 
reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts 
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the 
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction 
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use 
calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating 
unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses and other deductible temporary differences to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the losses and the deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The 
total amount of unrecognised deductible temporary differences and unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2020 was 
approximately HK$423,377,000 (2019: HK$389,059,000). Further details are included in note 29 to the financial 
statements.

4.	 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group is primarily engaged in the sales of information products and software and sales of software development and 
system integration. Given that the chief operating decision maker of the Company considers that the Group’s business is 
operated and managed as a single segment, accordingly, no segment information is presented.

Geographical information
(a)	 Revenue from external customers

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Mainland China 931,786 1,055,222
Hong Kong 4,554 2,933
Others 205 269
   

936,545 1,058,424
   

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b)	 Non-current assets

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Mainland China 271,833 256,379
Hong Kong 209,712 216,892
Others 3,111 2,653
   

484,656 475,924
   

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments, 
deferred tax assets and pledged deposits.

Information about major customers
During the year, there was no revenue derived from transactions with a single external customer which individually 
accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue (2019: Nil).
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5.	 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue from contracts with customers 931,511 1,053,829
Revenue from other sources

Rental income from investment property operating leases 5,034 4,595
   

936,545 1,058,424
   

Revenue from contracts with customers
(i)	 Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2020 Total
HK$’000

  

Types of goods or services
Sale of information products and software 898,199
Sale of software development and system integration service 33,312
  

Total revenue from contracts with customers 931,511
  

Geographical markets
Mainland China 931,306
Others 205
  

Total revenue from contracts with customers 931,511
  

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 898,199
Services transferred over time 33,312
  

Total revenue from contracts with customers 931,511
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5.	 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i)	 Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 Total
HK$’000

  

Types of goods or services
Sale of information products and software 853,424
Sale of software development and system integration service 200,405
  

Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,053,829
  

Geographical markets
Mainland China 1,053,560
Others 269
  

Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,053,829
  

Timing of revenue recognition
Goods transferred at a point in time 853,424
Services transferred over time 200,405
  

Total revenue from contracts with customers 1,053,829
  

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting period that were included 
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period and recognised from performance obligations 
satisfied in previous periods:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue recognised that was included in contract liabilities at the 
beginning of the reporting period:

Sale of information products and software 43,256 43,008
Sale of software development and system integration service 8,500 13,252
   

51,756 56,260
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5.	 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ii)	 Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Sale of information products and software
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of information products and software and payment is 
generally due within 90 days from the invoice date, except for new customers, where payment in advance is 
normally required. A certain percentage of payment is retained by customers until the end of the retention period as 
the Group’s entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the goods’ quality by the customers 
over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Sale of software development and system integration
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are rendered and payment is generally due within 15 
days from the invoice date. A certain percentage of payment is retained by customers until the end of the retention 
period as the Group’s entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the 
customers over a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially 
unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue:
Within one year 56,204 114,455
After one year 2,677 9,023
   

58,881 123,478
   

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations which are expected to be 
recognised as revenue after one year relate to software development and system integration services, of which the 
performance obligations are to be satisfied within three years. All the other amounts of transaction prices allocated 
to the remaining performance obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts 
disclosed above do not include variable consideration which is constrained.
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5.	 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Other income
Bank interest income 7,314 6,315
Other interest income 335 26,253
Government grants (note) 50,457 55,360
Others 4,032 5,878
   

62,138 93,806
   

Gains
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 26 609
Fair value gains on structured deposits 1,305 –
Foreign exchange differences, net 2,627 –
   

3,958 609
   

66,096 94,415
   

Note:	 Various government grants have been received for the sale of software approved by the PRC tax authority and the development of 
software in Mainland China. The government grants have been recognised upon sales of approved software and completion of the 
development of related software. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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6.	 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Auditor’s remuneration 2,560 2,560
Cost of inventories sold and services provided** 489,090 534,403
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  12 18,870 19,158
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 14(a) 2,739 2,209
Lease payments not included in the measurement of lease 

liabilities 14(c) 22,367 20,615
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets* 19/20 5,063 9,236
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of other receivables* 21 (7,977) 436,580
Loss on write-off of inventories* 1,753 1,434
Provision for obsolete inventories** 3,599 2,383
Research and development costs:

Current year expenditure* 157,428 163,452

Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ and chief 
executive’s remuneration – note 8):
Wages and salaries 243,700 258,454
Pension scheme contributions*** 22,435 41,111

    

266,135 299,565
    

Foreign exchange differences, net (2,627) 4,024
Direct operating expenses (including repair and maintenance) 

arising on rental-earning investment properties 405 736
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (14) 240
Fair value losses on investment properties* 13 3,756 4,985
Gain on disposal of financial assets  

at fair value through profit or loss (248) –
Fair value gains on structured deposits (1,305) –
    

*	 These items are included in “Other expenses, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

**	 These items are included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

***	 At 31 December 2020, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future 
years (2019: Nil).
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7.	 FINANCE COSTS
An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on lease liabilities 121 144
Interest on bank borrowings 1,473 9,394
   

1,594 9,538
   

8.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Fees 506 402
   

Other emoluments:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,489 2,393
Performance related bonuses* 1,742 2,930
Pension scheme contributions 117 73

   

4,348 5,396
   

4,854 5,798
   

*	 Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined with reference to the performance of 
the Group’s operations.

(a)	 Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Mr Li Fat Chung1 35 138
Ms Wong Lam Kit Yee1 33 132
Mr Chan Chung Kik, Lewis 168 132
Mr Lau Ka Wing2 135 –
Mr Lai Nga Ming2 135 –
   

506 402
   

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year (2019: Nil).
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8.	 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION (continued)
(b)	 Executive directors

Fees

Salaries,
allowances 

and benefits
 in kind

Performance
related

bonuses

Pension
scheme

contributions
Total

remuneration
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

2020
Mr Cheung Shuen Lung – 1,352 – 73 1,425
Mr Shao Xing# – 1,137 1,742 44 2,923
Ms Zuo Jin – – – – –
Professor Xiao Jian Guo – – – – –
Mr Hu Bin – – – – –
Ms Liao Hang – – – – –
      

– 2,489 1,742 117 4,348
      

2019
Mr Cheung Shuen Lung – 1,371 – 73 1,444
Mr Shao Xing# – 1,022 2,930 – 3,952
Ms Zuo Jin – – – – –
Mr Cui Yun Tao3 – – – – –
Professor Xiao Jian Guo4 – – – – –
Mr Hu Bin – – – – –
Ms Liao Hang – – – – –
      

– 2,393 2,930 73 5,396
      

#	 Mr Shao Xing is also the chief executive officer of the Group
1	 Resigned on 1 April 2020
2	 Appointed on 1 April 2020
3	 Resigned on 4 April 2019
4	 Appointed on 4 April 2019

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the year.
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9.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included one (2019: one) director and the chief executive officer, details 
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining four (2019: four) highest 
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,849 4,844
Performance related bonuses 3,307 3,334
Pension scheme contributions 135 232
   

7,291 8,410
   

The number of non-director and non-chief executive, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following 
bands is as follows:

Number of employees

2020 2019
   

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 3 3
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 0
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 0 1
   

4 4
   

10.	 INCOME TAX

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current – Hong Kong
Charge for the year 1 –

Current – Mainland China
Charge for the year 2,214 6,496
Overprovision in prior years (521) (2,109)

Deferred (note 29) (3,362) (115,126)
   

Total tax credit for the year (1,668) (110,739)
   

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2019:16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising 
in Hong Kong during the year, except for the first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits for Founder Electronics (HK) 
Limited which is taxed at the rate of 8.25% as Founder Electronics (HK) Limited elects the two-tiered profits tax rates in 
2020 and 2019.
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10.	 INCOME TAX (continued)
Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China have been calculated at the statutory PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) 
rate of 25%. Certain subsidiaries of the Group are entitled to preferential tax treatments of reduction in the CIT rate to 5%, 
10% or 15%.

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to negative HK$28,000 (2019: negative HK$29,000) is included 
in “Share of profits of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in 
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a 
reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

     

Profit/(loss) before tax 52,229 (349,529)
     

Tax at the statutory tax rate 14,926 28.6 (85,753) 24.5
Lower tax rate for specific provinces or  

enacted by local authority (11,832) (22.7) 49,116 (14.1)
Adjustment in respect of current tax of  

previous periods (521) (1.0) (2,109) 0.6
Effect on changes in tax rates (1,670) (3.2) (70,105) 20.1
Profits and losses attributable to associates (28) – (29) –
Income not subject to tax (1,851) (3.5) (894) 0.3
Expenses not deductible for tax 4,516 8.7 4,946 (1.4)
Research and development super deduction (10,905) (20.9) (8,206) 2.3
Tax losses utilised from previous periods (153) (0.3) – –
Tax losses not recognised 5,850 11.2 2,295 (0.6)
     

Tax credit at the Group’s effective rate (1,668) (3.2) (110,739) 31.7
     

11.	 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS 
OF THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic earnings/loss per share amount is based on the earnings/loss for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,199,746,993 (2019: 
1,199,746,993) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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12.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture,
fixtures

and office
equipment

Machinery
and

equipment
Motor

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

31 December 2020
At 31 December 2019 and  

at 1 January 2020:
Cost or valuation 298,216 16,878 44,149 16,701 7,306 383,250
Accumulated depreciation  

and impairment – (8,387) (36,605) (7,950) (6,007) (58,949)
       

Net carrying amount 298,216 8,491 7,544 8,751 1,299 324,301
       

At 1 January 2020, net of 
accumulated depreciation 298,216 8,491 7,544 8,751 1,299 324,301

Additions – – 2,743 1,082 – 3,825
Disposals – – (45) – – (45)
Surplus on revaluation 11,134 – – – – 11,134
Depreciation provided during  

the year (note 6) (10,203) (2,347) (4,219) (1,750) (351) (18,870)
Exchange realignment 14,774 – 340 546 67 15,727
       

At 31 December 2020, net of 
accumulated depreciation  
and impairment 313,921 6,144 6,363 8,629 1,015 336,072

       

At 31 December 2020:
Cost or valuation 313,921 16,657 46,063 18,956 7,656 403,253
Accumulated depreciation  

and impairment – (10,513) (39,700) (10,327) (6,641) (67,181)
       

Net carrying amount 313,921 6,144 6,363 8,629 1,015 336,072
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12.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Land and
buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture,
fixtures

and office
equipment

Machinery
and

equipment
Motor

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

31 December 2019
At 31 December 2018 and  

at 1 January 2019:
Cost or valuation 305,306 17,225 47,940 17,507 8,682 396,660
Accumulated depreciation  

and impairment – (6,342) (40,307) (5,788) (6,934) (59,371)
       

Net carrying amount 305,306 10,883 7,633 11,719 1,748 337,289
       

At 1 January 2019, net of 
accumulated depreciation 305,306 10,883 7,633 11,719 1,748 337,289

Additions – – 4,317 10 – 4,327
Disposals – – (230) (425) – (655)
Transfers to investment properties (4,090) – – – – (4,090)
Surplus on revaluation 11,356 – – – – 11,356
Depreciation provided during  

the year (note 6) (9,937) (2,392) (4,034) (2,374) (421) (19,158)
Exchange realignment (4,419) – (142) (179) (28) (4,768)
       

At 31 December 2019, net of 
accumulated depreciation  
and impairment 298,216 8,491 7,544 8,751 1,299 324,301

       

At 31 December 2019:
Cost or valuation 298,216 16,878 44,149 16,701 7,306 383,250
Accumulated depreciation  

and impairment – (8,387) (36,605) (7,950) (6,007) (58,949)
       

Net carrying amount 298,216 8,491 7,544 8,751 1,299 324,301
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12.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
The Group’s land and buildings consist of one residential property and one commercial property in the PRC and certain 
commercial properties and car parking spaces in Hong Kong. The directors of the Company have determined that the 
land and buildings consist of three classes of asset, i.e., commercial properties, residential property and car parking 
spaces, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s land and buildings were revalued on 
31 December 2020 based on valuations performed by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent professionally 
qualified valuers, at HK$313,921,000. Each year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which external valuer to 
be responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s land and buildings. Selection criteria include market knowledge, 
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group’s management has discussions 
with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed for annual financial 
reporting.

Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would 
have been approximately HK$18,182,000 (2019: HK$18,300,000).

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, none of the Group’s land and buildings was pledged to secure general banking 
facilities granted to the Group (note 28).

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s land and buildings:

Fair value measurement as at 
31 December 2020 using

   

Quoted
prices in

active
markets

Significant
observable

inputs

Significant
unobservable

inputs
Total(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Commercial properties – – 62,150 62,150
Residential property – – 245,441 245,441
Car parking spaces – – 6,330 6,330
     

– – 313,921 313,921
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12.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Fair value measurement as at 
31 December 2019 using

   

Quoted
prices in

active
markets

Significant
observable

inputs

Significant
unobservable

inputs
Total(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Commercial properties – – 62,712 62,712
Residential property – – 228,927 228,927
Car parking spaces – – 6,577 6,577
     

– – 298,216 298,216
     

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 
out of Level 3 (2019: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Commercial
properties

Residential
property

Car parking
spaces

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 63,229 235,072 7,005
Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised in 

other comprehensive income 5,687 5,863 (194)
Transfers to investment properties (4,090) – –
Depreciation provided during the year (2,114) (7,589) (234)
Exchange realignment – (4,419) –
    

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 and  
1 January 2020 62,712 228,927 6,577

Net gain from a fair value adjustment recognised in 
other comprehensive income 1,696 9,466 (28)

Depreciation provided during the year (2,258) (7,726) (219)
Exchange realignment – 14,774 –
    

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 62,150 245,441 6,330
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12.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of land and buildings:

Valuation
techniques

Significant
unobservable inputs Range

2020 2019
     

Commercial properties Market approach Adjustment on market  
unit price (per s.q.m.)

–23.8% to –6.6% –35.2% to –10.6%

Residential property Market approach Adjustment on market  
unit price (per s.q.m.)

–12.9% to 6.0% –13.1% to 6.4%

Income approach Adjustment on market  
rental (per s.q.m. and  
per month)

–13.5% to –9.5% –11.8% to –1.8%

Capitalisation rate 1.4% 1.0% to 1.3%

Car parking spaces Market approach Adjustment on market  
unit price (per s.q.m.)

–24.9% to 3.9% –22.4% to 6.7%

Under the market approach, fair value is estimated based on the unit prices of comparable properties with certain 
adjustments made to reflect the differences in location, neighbourhood, environment, facilities, etc. Comparable properties 
of similar size, character and location are analysed and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages and 
disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of capital values. Physical, locational and 
economical characteristics are important criteria to be analysed when comparing such comparable properties against the 
subject properties.

The adjustment on the market unit price is determined by referring to the differences of the subject properties against 
the comparable properties in terms of time, building facilities, floor, view, size, loading and the listing nature of the 
comparable properties.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the unit price of comparable properties in isolation would result in a significant 
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the land and buildings. A significant increase/(decrease) in a positive adjustment 
or a significant decrease/(increase) in a negative adjustment on the unit price would result in a significant increase/
(decrease) in the fair value of the land and buildings.

Under the income approach, fair value is estimated by capitalising the adjusted market rental income at an adjusted 
market capitalisation rate. Market rental and the market capitalisation rate are determined by making reference to market 
listing prices and rentals of comparable properties.

The adjustment on market rental is determined by referring to the differences of the subject property against the 
comparable properties in terms of building facilities, size, floor and the listing nature of the comparable properties. The 
adjustment on the market capitalisation rate is determined by referring to the class of comparable properties.
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12.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
A significant increase/(decrease) in market rental in isolation would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair 
value of the land and buildings. A significant increase/(decrease) in a positive adjustment or a significant decrease/
(increase) in a negative adjustment on market rental would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of 
the land and buildings. A significant increase/(decrease) in the capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant 
decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the land and buildings. A significant increase/(decrease) in the adjustment to the 
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the land and buildings.

13.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Carrying amount at 1 January 146,184 147,223
Net losses from a fair value adjustment (3,756) (4,985)
Transfers from property, plant and equipment – 4,090
Exchange realignment 495 (144)
   

Carrying amount at 31 December 142,923 146,184
   

The Group’s investment properties consist of certain commercial properties, residential properties and car parking spaces 
in Hong Kong and one commercial property and one residential property in the PRC. The directors of the Company 
have determined that the investment properties consist of three classes of asset, i.e., commercial, residential and car 
parking spaces, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The Group’s investment properties were 
revalued on 31 December 2020 based on valuations performed by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited, independent 
professionally qualified valuers, at HK$142,923,000. Each year, the Group’s management decides to appoint which 
external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s investment properties. Selection criteria 
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The Group’s 
management has discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is 
performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases, further details of which are included in note 
14 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2020, certain of the Group’s investment properties with a carrying value of approximately 
HK$75,589,000 (2019: HK$76,279,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 
28).

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included on pages 150 to 151 of the annual report.
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13.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

Fair value measurement as at 
31 December 2020 using

   

Quoted
prices in

active
markets

Significant
observable

inputs

Significant
unobservable

inputs
Total(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Commercial properties – – 116,273 116,273
Residential properties – – 23,660 23,660
Car parking spaces – – 2,990 2,990
     

– – 142,923 142,923
     

Fair value measurement as at
31 December 2019 using

   

Quoted
prices in

active
markets

Significant
observable

inputs

Significant
unobservable

inputs
Total(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Commercial properties – – 118,848 118,848
Residential properties – – 24,103 24,103
Car parking spaces – – 3,233 3,233
     

– – 146,184 146,184
     

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 
out of Level 3 (2019: Nil).
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13.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Commercial
properties

Residential
properties

Car parking
spaces

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 121,443 22,525 3,255
Net gains/(losses) from a fair value adjustment 

recognised in other income and gains in  
profit or loss (6,552) 1,589 (22)

Transfers from property, plant and equipment (note 12) 4,090 – –
Exchange realignment (133) (11) –
    

Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 and  
1 January 2020 118,848 24,103 3,233

Net losses from a fair value adjustment recognised in  
profit or loss (3,023) (490) (243)

Exchange realignment 448 47 –
    

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 116,273 23,660 2,990
    

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation
techniques

Significant
unobservable inputs Range

2020 2019
     

Commercial properties Investment approach Adjustment on market  
unit price (per s.q.m.)

–27.6% to 0.6% –38% to –0.5%

Adopted yield 3.1% to 6.8% 2.5% to 6.8%

Market approach Adjustment on market  
unit price (per s.q.m.)

–23.7% to –16.5% –12.7% to –10.8%

Residential properties  Investment approach Adjustment on market  
unit price (per s.q.m.)

–49.6% to 12.4% –47.2% to 14.7%

Adopted yield 2.1% to 5.3% 1.9% to 5.9%

Car parking spaces Investment approach Adjustment on market  
unit price (per s.q.m.)

–17.6% to 1.3% –18.9% to 6.4%

Adopted yield 2.1% to 3.1% 2.3% to 3.0%
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13.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Under the investment approach, fair value is estimated by capitalising the current rental income and the reversionary value 
of the properties after tenancies expire and by referring to market sales transactions after making relevant adjustments.

The adjustment on the market unit price is determined by referring to the differences of the subject properties against 
the comparable properties in terms of time, size, view, floor and floor loading. The yields adopted are determined 
by referring to the current yields of the subject properties and the market yields published by the Rating and Valuation 
Department regarding the respective property types.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the market unit price in isolation would result in a significant increase/(decrease) 
in the fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in a positive adjustment or a significant 
decrease/(increase) in a negative adjustment on the market unit price would result in a significant increase/(decrease) 
in the fair value of the investment properties. A significant increase/(decrease) in the yield in isolation would result in a 
significant decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment properties.

Under the market approach, fair value is estimated based on the unit prices of comparable properties with certain 
adjustments made to reflect the differences in location, neighbourhood, environment, facilities, etc. Comparable properties 
of similar size, character and location are analysed and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages and 
disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of capital values. Physical, locational and 
economical characteristics are important criteria to be analysed when comparing such comparable properties against the 
subject properties.

The adjustment on the market unit price is determined by referring to the differences of the subject properties against 
the comparable properties in terms of time, building facilities, floor, view, size, loading and the listing nature of the 
comparable properties.
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14.	 LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group leases certain of its offices and warehouse properties under operating lease arrangements, which are 
negotiated for terms ranging from six months to three years.

(a)	 Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as follows:

Total
Buildings
HK$’000

  

As at 1 January 2019 3,679
Additions 1,392
Depreciation charge (2,209)
Exchange realignment (57)
  

As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 2,805
Additions 2,321
Depreciation charge (2,739)
Exchange realignment 163
  

As at 31 December 2020 2,550
  

(b)	 Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Carrying amount at 1 January 2,439 3,344
New leases 1,966 1,147
Accretion of interest recognised during the year 121 144
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors (301) –
Payments (2,202) (2,146)
Exchange realignment 139 (50)
   

Carrying amount at 31 December 2,162 2,439
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14.	 LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b)	 Lease liabilities (continued)

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Analysed into:
Current portion 1,724 1,979
Non-current portion 438 460
   

Total 2,162 2,439
   

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements.

As disclosed in note 2.2. to the financial statements, the Group has early adopted the amendment to HKFRS 16 
and applied the practical expedient to all eligible rent concessions granted by the lessors for leases of certain 
warehouse during the year.

(c)	 The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on lease liabilities 121 144
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 2,739 2,209
Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases with remaining 

lease terms ended on or before year end 22,367 20,615
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors (301) –
   

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 24,926 22,968
   

(d)	 The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows relating to leases that have not yet commenced are 
disclosed in notes 33(c) and 35, respectively, to the financial statements.

(e)	 The Group has no termination options expected to be exercised.
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14.	 LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessor
The Group leases its investment properties (note 13) under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases 
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was 
HK$5,034,000 (2019: HK$4,595,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2020, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under  
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 4,477 4,447
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 597 3,411
   

5,074 7,858
   

15.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Share of net assets 3,080 2,603
Due from associates 31 31
   

3,111 2,634
   

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. In the opinion of the directors, 
the amounts due from associates are unlikely to be repaid in the foreseeable future and are considered as part of the 
Group’s net investments in the associates. There was no recent history of default and past due amounts for loans to 
associates. As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates are held through certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group’s associates that are not individually 
material:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Share of the associates’ profits for the year 142 145
Share of the associates’ other comprehensive income/(loss) 335 (55)
   

Share of the associates’ total comprehensive income 477 90
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investments in associates 3,111 2,634
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16.	 EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Equity investments at fair value through  
other comprehensive income

Listed equity investments, at fair value:
PUC Berhad 1,902 2,641
   

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group 
considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the gross loss in respect of the Group’s equity investments at fair value 
through other comprehensive income recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to HK$747,000 (2019: 
HK$4,115,000).

17.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Patents and
acquired
software

Development
expenditure on
media software Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

At 31 December 2019
Cost 2,228 10,061 12,289
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (2,228) (10,061) (12,289)

    

Net carrying amount – – –
    

At 31 December 2020
Cost 2,376 10,729 13,105
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (2,376) (10,729) (13,105)

    

Net carrying amount – – –
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18.	 INVENTORIES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trading stocks 75,400 71,131
   

19.	 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade receivables 231,664 200,939
Bills receivable 17,845 17,728
Impairment (49,612) (40,648)
   

199,897 178,019
   

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is 
normally required. Payment is generally due within 90 days from the invoice date. Each customer has a maximum credit 
limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly 
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large 
number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral 
or other credit enhancements over its trade and bills receivable balances. Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

Included in the Group’s trade and bills receivables are amounts due from Peking Founder Group of HK$609,000 (2019: 
HK$11,413,000), which are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major customers of the Group.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables and bills receivable, based on the invoice date or bills receipt date and net 
of loss allowance, is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within 6 months 168,172 140,853
7 to 12 months 11,718 12,878
13 to 24 months 16,294 12,153
Over 24 months 3,713 12,135
   

199,897 178,019
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19.	 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning of year 40,648 29,216
Impairment losses, net (note 6) 7,707 12,280
Amount written off as uncollectible – (369)
Exchange realignment 1,257 (479)
   

At end of year 49,612 40,648
   

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 
The provision rates are based on the ageing of groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., 
by geographical region). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable 
information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions. The increase in the loss allowance of HK$8,964,000 was a result of an increase in trade receivables of all 
age groups. The individually impaired trade receivables are related to customers that were credit-impaired or in default of 
payments and no receivable is expected to be recovered.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables:

As at 31 December 2020

Ageing
 

Less than
6 months

7 to 12
months

13 to 24
months

Over
24 months Total

      

Impairment of credit loss assessed by  
credit risk portfolio

Expected credit loss rate 2.27% 9.41% 22.19% 88.06% 16.79%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 153,815 12,935 20,941 31,107 218,798
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) 3,488 1,217 4,647 27,394 36,746

Impairment of credit loss assessed individually

Expected credit loss rate 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 3,457 31 4,617 4,761 12,866
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) 3,457 31 4,617 4,761 12,866
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19.	 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
As at 31 December 2019

Ageing
 

Less than
6 months

7 to 12
months

13 to 24
months

Over
24 months Total

      

Impairment of credit loss assessed by  
credit risk portfolio

Expected credit loss rate 2.56% 10.90% 27.61% 68.84% 18.45%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 126,363 14,453 16,789 38,949 196,554
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) 3,238 1,575 4,636 26,814 36,263

Impairment of credit loss assessed individually

Expected credit loss rate 100% – – – 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 4,385 – – – 4,385
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) 4,385 – – – 4,385

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety
At 31 December 2020, the Group endorsed certain bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the 
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a 
carrying amount in aggregate of RMB749,000 (equivalent to HK$890,000) (2019: RMB1,378,000 (equivalent to 
HK$1,535,000)). The Derecognised Bills had a maturity of one to twelve months at the end of the reporting period. 
In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right 
of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, 
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has 
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum 
exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to 
repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the 
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of 
the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both during the year or 
cumulatively. The endorsement has been made evenly throughout the year.
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20.	 CONTRACT ASSETS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Contract assets arising from:
Sale of software development and system integration services 11,087 16,092
Sale of information products and software 10,001 8,335

   

21,088 24,427
Impairment (4,771) (7,093)
   

16,317 17,334
   

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from the sale of information products and software and the 
sales of software development and system integration services as the receipt of consideration is conditional on successful 
delivery of goods or completion of services. Included in contract assets for the sale of information products and software, 
and the sales of software development and system integration services also comprised retention receivables. Upon delivery 
of goods or services and acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as contract assets are reclassified to trade 
receivables. The decrease in contract assets in 2020 was the result of the decrease in the ongoing sale of information 
products and software and the sales of software development and system integration services at the end of each the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, an allowance of HK$2,644,000 (2019: HK$3,044,000) was reversed 
for expected credit losses on contract assets.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets as at 31 December is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 15,210 14,980
After one year 5,878 9,447
   

Total contract assets 21,088 24,427
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20.	 CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract assets are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning of year 7,093 16,893
Reversal of impairment losses, net (note 6) (2,644) (3,044)
Amount written off – (6,599)
Exchange realignment 322 (157)
   

At end of year 4,771 7,093
   

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of the 
trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision rates 
of contract assets are based on the ageing of trade receivables for groupings of various customer segments with similar 
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and 
supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. The individually impaired contract assets are related to customers that were credit-impaired or in 
default of payments and no receivable is expected to be recovered.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:

2020 2019
   

Expected credit loss rate 22.6% 29%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) 21,088 24,427
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) 4,771 7,093
   

21.	 PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Prepayments 21,202 26,067
Deposits and other receivables 44,983 58,141
Loan receivables 448,578 428,450
   

514,763 512,658
Impairment allowance

– Deposits and other receivables (6,283) (5,755)
– Loan receivables (Note) (448,578) (428,450)

   

59,902 78,453
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21.	 PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of deposits, other receivables and loan receivables are as follows:

2020 2019
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

At beginning of year 434,205 5,219
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) losses recognised 6 (7,977) 436,580
Amount written off as uncollectible – (8)
Exchange realignment 28,633 (7,586)
    

At 31 December 454,861 434,205
    

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental deposits and deposits with customers. Expected credit losses are 
estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is 
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.

Note:	 As at 31 December 2019, an entrusted loan receivable in the principal amount of RMB370,000,000 (approximately 
HK$412,180,000) and the related interest amount of RMB5,591,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$6,228,000) (collectively the 
“Outstanding Entrusted Loan”) were receivable from Peking Founder. On 18 February 2020, the Company received a notification letter 
from Peking Founder, regarding a notice received by Peking Founder from The First Intermediate People’s Court of Beijing (the “Court”). 
According to such notice, Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd. applied to the Court for a restructuring of Peking Founder. On 19 February 2020, 
according to the civil order and decision letter received by Peking Founder from the Court, the Court decided to accept the application 
made by Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd. for the initiation of restructuring procedure against Peking Founder and appointed Peking Founder’s 
liquidation team as the administrator of Peking Founder. On 3 March 2020, the Company declared the Outstanding Entrusted Loan 
became due. According to the relevant laws and regulations about judicial restructuring, Peking Founder is not allowed to settle individual 
debts during the restructuring period, including the Outstanding Entrusted Loan. Considering the deterioration of financial and repayment 
ability of Peking Founder and the possibility of recovering the balances, the management of the Company determined the recoverability 
was remote, therefore, full provision for impairment was made on the Outstanding Entrusted Loan in 2019. In 2020, the restructuring of 
Peking Founder was still in progress, the management of the Company considered the provision for impairment remain unchanged.

As at 31 December 2019, loan receivables in the principal amount of RMB9,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$10,026,000) 
and the related interest amount of RMB14,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$16,000) were receivables from Peking Founder 
Handwriting Digital Technology Co., Ltd (“Founder Handwriting”), which were guaranteed by Peking University Founder Information 
Industry Group Co., Ltd. (“PKU Founder Information”). Both Founder Handwriting and PKU Founder Information are subsidiaries of Peking 
Founder. After considering the operating and financial position of Founder Handwriting and PKU Founder Information, full provision for 
impairment was made on prudence basis as at 31 December 2019.

The entrusted loans lent to Founder Handwriting were settled on 3 February 2020 as to the amount of RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$3,342,000), 25 May 2020 as to the amount of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,228,000) 
and 5 June 2020 as to the amount of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,228,000), thus provision for impairment of 
these three loans were reversed in 2020.

Principal amount of RMB370,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$439,560,000) and related interest amount of RMB5,591,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$6,642,000) included in the above balances are under the continuing connected transaction as set out 
in the report of directors.



FOUNDER HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2020128

31 DECEMBER 2020

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22.	 STRUCTURED DEPOSITS
The structured deposits at 31 December 2020 were financial products with principal protected issued by banks in the 
PRC. They were classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss as their contractual cash flows are not 
solely payments of principal and interest. At the end of the reporting period, the fair value of structured deposits amounted 
to HK$178,359,000 (2019: Nil).

23.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Listed equity investments, at fair value 186 380
Listed derivative investments, at fair value 201 183
   

387 563
   

The above equity and derivative investments at 31 December 2020 were classified as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss as they were held for trading.

24.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cash and bank balances 237,966 425,197
Time deposits 135,784 142,901
   

373,750 568,098
Less:	 Pledged time deposits

Pledged for long term letters of guarantee (3,188) (4,109)
Pledged for short term letters of guarantee (6,777) (10,123)

   

Cash and cash equivalents 363,785 553,866
   

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) 
amounted to approximately HK$208,631,000 (2019: HK$392,945,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other 
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, 
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through 
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for 
varying periods of between seven days and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and 
earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with 
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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25.	 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date or 
bills payment date, is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within 6 months 61,281 53,503
7 to 12 months 994 1,866
13 to 24 months 1,694 1,649
Over 24 months 3,981 5,022
   

67,950 62,040
   

Included in the Group’s trade and bills payables are amounts due to Peking Founder Group of approximately 
HK$1,327,000 (2019: HK$1,757,000), which are repayable on credit terms similar to those offered by the related 
companies to their major customers.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 15 to 90 days.

26.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Sale of information products and software 65,219 65,313
Sale of software development and system integration services 3,897 12,072
   

69,116 77,385
   

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received for delivery of information products and software and rendering 
of software development and system integration services and amounts due to contract customers. The decrease in contract 
liabilities in 2020 was mainly due to the decrease in the sale of software development and system integration services at 
the end of the year.

Included in the Group’s short-term advances as at 31 December 2020 are amounts from Peking Founder Group of 
approximately HK$1,321,000 (2019: HK$1,286,000).
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27.	 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Accrued salaries and bonuses 111,052 112,115
Subcontracting fee 63,250 51,108
Other tax payables 31,023 28,632
Deferred revenue 21,935 27,746
Due to Peking Founder Group 13,881 11,979
Others 23,408 23,500
   

264,549 255,080
   

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.

28.	 INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

2020 2019
Effective

interest rate
(%) Maturity HK$’000

Effective
interest rate

(%) Maturity HK$’000
       

Current

Bank loans – unsecured – – – 4.35–5.66 On demand 107,093
       

– 107,093
       

Notes:

(a)	 As at 31 December 2020, none of unsecured bank loans (2019: HK$107,093,000) were guaranteed by Peking Founder.

(b)	 The Group’s trade finance facilities amounting to HK$50,000,000 (2019: HK$50,000,000), of which nil (2019: Nil) had been 
utilised as at the end of the reporting period, are secured by the Group’s investment properties situated in Hong Kong, which had an 
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period of HK$75,589,000 (2019: HK$76,279,000).

(c)	 As at 31 December 2020, none of the Group’s bank borrowings (2019: HK$107,093,000) were denominated in RMB.
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29.	 DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Revaluation 
of properties

Temporary
difference on
depreciation
of properties

Accelerated
amortisation
of intangible

assets
Accrued

expenses

Losses 
available for 

offsetting
future 

taxable
profits

Impairment
of assets Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
         

At 1 January 2019 (71,298) 7,113 1,493 2,694 6,176 – 382 (53,440)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) 

to the statement of profit or 
loss for the year (note 10) 26 1,946 (188) 1,177 (148) 109,028 3,285 115,126

Deferred tax charged to other 
comprehensive income 
during the year (1,471) – – – – – – (1,471)

Exchange realignment 1,296 (206) (26) (73) – (1,915) (64) (988)
         

At 31 December 2019 and  
1 January 2020 (71,447) 8,853 1,279 3,798 6,028 107,113 3,603 59,227

Deferred tax credited/(charged) 
to the statement of profit or 
loss for the year (note 10) (37) 1,177 (555) 159 750 1,823 45 3,362

Deferred tax charged to other 
comprehensive income 
during the year (2,468) – – – – – – (2,468)

Exchange realignment (4,459) 806 54 261 – 7,217 242 4,121
         

At 31 December 2020 (78,411) 10,836 778 4,218 6,778 116,153 3,890 64,242
         

For presentation purposes, at the end of the reporting period, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset 
in the statement of financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial 
reporting purposes:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the  
consolidated statement of financial position 125,038 115,793

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the  
consolidated statement of financial position (60,796) (56,566)

   

64,242 59,227
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29.	 DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Tax losses 355,646 309,883
Deductible temporary differences 67,731 79,176
   

423,377 389,059
   

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$322,909,000 (2019: HK$309,883,000), that 
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. As at 31 
December 2020, the Group had tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$32,737,000 (2019: nil) that will expire 
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect 
of these losses and other deductible temporary differences as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making 
for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be 
utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign 
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January 
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax 
treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. 
The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries and associates established 
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2020, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the 
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In 
the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. 
The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which 
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$338,559,000 at 31 December 2020 (2019: 
HK$245,730,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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30.	 SHARE CAPITAL
Shares

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Authorised:
2,100,000,000 (2019: 2,100,000,000)  

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 210,000 210,000
   

Issued and fully paid:
1,199,746,993 (2019: 1,199,746,993)  

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 119,975 119,975
   

31.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to 
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include 
the Company’s directors, including independent non-executive directors, senior management, employees of the Group, 
any substantial shareholders or any companies controlled by a substantial shareholder, any one or entity, who in the sole 
opinion of the Board, has contributed or will contribute to the Group or any substantial shareholder. The Scheme became 
effective on 31 May 2016 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount 
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares 
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of 
the shares of the Company in issue unless (i) a circular is despatched to the shareholders; (ii) the shareholders approve 
the grant of the share options in excess of the 1% limit referred to in this paragraph; and (iii) the relevant eligible person 
and his associates shall abstain from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise price) of share options to be 
granted to such eligible person(s) must be fixed before shareholders’ approval.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, 
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share options granted 
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, 
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price 
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to 
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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31.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made, 
upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options 
granted is determinable by the directors, and commences on such date or after the date on which the share option is 
granted as the board may determine in granting the share options and expires at the close of business on such date as 
the board may determine in granting the share options but in any event shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant 
(which is the date of offer of grant if the offer for the grant of the share option is accepted).

There is no specified minimum period under the Scheme for which a share option must be held or the performance target 
which must be achieved before a share option can be exercised under the terms of the Scheme.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock 
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options; and (ii) the average Stock 
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share options were granted during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 and there were no outstanding 
options as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

32.	 RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 67 and 68 of the financial statements.

The Group’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the nominal value of the shares and the share premium account of 
Founder HK acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 31 March 2000 over the nominal value of the Company’s 
shares issued in exchange therefor.

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations, each of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is required to transfer not less than 
10% of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations, to the general 
reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital. The quantum of the annual transfer is subject to the 
approval of the board of directors of each PRC subsidiary in accordance with its articles of association.

33.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a)	 Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$2,321,000 
(2019: HK$1,392,000) and HK$1,966,000 (2019: HK$1,147,000), respectively, in respect of lease 
arrangements for offices and warehouse properties.
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33.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b)	 Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2020

Interest-bearing
bank borrowings

Lease
liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

At 1 January 2020 107,093 2,439
Changes from financing cash flows (114,207) (2,081)
New leases – 1,966
Interest expense – 121
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows – (121)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors – (301)
Foreign exchange movement 7,114 139
   

At 31 December 2020 – 2,162
   

2019

Interest-bearing
bank borrowings

Lease
liabilities

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

At 31 December 2018 160,914 –
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 – 3,344
   

At 1 January 2019 (restated) 160,914 3,344
Changes from financing cash flows (51,479) (2,002)
New leases – 1,147
Interest expense – 144
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows – (144)
Foreign exchange movement (2,342) (50)
   

At 31 December 2019 107,093 2,439
   

(c)	 Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within operating activities 121 144
Within financing activities 2,081 2,002
   

2,202 2,146
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34.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (2019: Nil).

35.	 COMMITMENTS
(a)	 At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any significant commitments.

(b)	 The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet commenced as at 31 December 2020. The future lease 
payments for these non-cancellable lease contracts are HK$20,515,000 (2019:HK$18,505,000) due within 
one year, and Nil (2019: HK$127,000) due in the second to fifth years, inclusive.

36.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(I)	 Transactions with related parties

(a)	 In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the following 
material transactions with related parties during the year:

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Management fee income earned from subsidiaries 
of Peking Founder (i) 597 1,089

Interest income from Peking Founder Group (ii) 335 26,253
Sales of goods to Peking Founder Group (i) 1,156 7,205
Rental and management expense to a subsidiary 

of Peking Founder Group (iii) 19,358 15,555
Purchase of goods from Peking Founder Group (i) 2,575 2,402
    

Notes:

(i)	 These transactions were conducted on the terms agreed between the parties involved.

(ii)	 The interest income was attributable to the entrusted loans provided to Founder Handwriting (2019: Peking Founder 
and Founder Handwriting), which were unsecured and bore interest at rates of 7.0% per annum (2019: 7.0% and 
8.0%).

(iii)	 The expenses were attributable to the lease agreement and management agreement with a subsidiary of Peking 
Founder to lease the premises in Beijing with market price.

The above related party transactions for the current year in respect of items (i), (ii) and (iii) also constitute 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(b)	 Other transactions with related parties
Peking Founder has guaranteed certain banking facilities granted to subsidiaries of the Company 
amounting to HK$111,400,000 as at 31 December 2019, which were utilised to the extent of 
approximately HK$84,813,000 as at 31 December 2019.
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36.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(II)	 Outstanding balances with related parties

(a)	 Details of the Group’s other receivables and other payables with its related companies as at the end of the 
reporting period are disclosed in notes 21 and 27 to the financial statements.

(b)	 Details of the Group’s amounts due from its associates as at the end of the reporting period are included in 
note 15 to the financial statements.

(c)	 Details of the Group’s trade balances with its related companies as at the end of the reporting period are 
disclosed in notes 19, 20, 25 and 26 to the financial statements.

(III)	 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Short term employee benefits 4,737 5,725
Pension scheme contributions 117 73
   

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 4,854 5,798
    

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial statements.
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37.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as 
follows:

2020
Financial assets

Fair value
Financial 
assets at 

Financial assets at
fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Total
through amortised  

profit or loss cost Debt Equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Due from associates – 31 – – 31
Equity investments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income – – – 1,902 1,902
Trade and bills receivables – 182,052 17,845 – 199,897
Financial assets included in prepayments, other 

receivables and other assets – 38,700 – – 38,700
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 387 – – – 387
Structured deposits 178,359 – – – 178,359
Pledged deposits – 9,965 – – 9,965
Cash and cash equivalents – 363,785 – – 363,785
      

178,746 594,533 17,845 1,902 793,026
      

Financial liabilities – financial liabilities at amortised cost

HK$’000
  

Trade and bills payables 67,950
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 226,555
Lease liabilities 2,162
  

296,667
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37.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)
2019
Financial assets

Fair value
through
profit or

Financial
assets at

Financial assets at
fair value through other 
comprehensive income

loss – held amortised  
for trading cost Debt Equity Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Due from associates – 31 – – 31
Equity investments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income – – – 2,641 2,641
Trade and bills receivables – 160,291 17,728 – 178,019
Financial assets included in prepayments, other 

receivables and other assets – 52,386 – – 52,386
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 563 – – – 563
Pledged deposits – 14,232 – – 14,232
Cash and cash equivalents – 553,866 – – 553,866
      

563 780,806 17,728 2,641 801,738
      

Financial liabilities – financial liabilities at amortised cost

HK$’000
  

Trade and bills payables 62,040
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 224,113
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 107,093
Lease liabilities 2,439
  

395,685
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38.	 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that 
reasonably approximate to fair value, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values

2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Financial assets
Due from associates 31 31 31 31
Equity investments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 1,902 2,641 1,902 2,641
Pledged deposits, non-current portion 3,188 4,109 2,995 3,879
Bills receivable 17,845 17,728 17,845 17,728
Structured deposits 178,359 – 178,359 –
Financial assets at fair value through profit  

or loss 387 563 387 563
     

201,712 25,072 201,519 24,842
     

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits, 
trade receivables, trade and bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, 
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to their 
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be 
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of the pledged deposits and bills receivable have been calculated by discounting 
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining 
maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk for the non-current portion of the pledged deposits as at 31 December 
2020 was assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of listed financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and listed equity investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are based on quoted market prices.

The Group made structured deposits, which represent financial products with principle protected issued by banks in 
Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these structured deposits by using a discounted cash flow 
valuation model based on the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.
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38.	 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2020

Fair value measurement using
 

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets

Significant 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
Total(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Equity investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 1,902 – – 1,902

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss 387 – – 387

Structured deposits – – 178,359 178,359
Bills receivable – 17,845 – 17,845
     

2,289 17,845 178,359 198,493
     

As at 31 December 2019

Fair value measurement using 
Quoted

prices in
active

markets

Significant
observable

inputs

Significant
unobservable

inputs
Total(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Equity investments at fair value through  
other comprehensive income 2,641 – – 2,641

Financial assets at fair value through profit  
or loss 563 – – 563

Bills receivable – 17,728 – 17,728
     

3,204 17,728 – 20,932
     

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 
2019.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or 
out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2019: Nil).
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38.	 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed:
As at 31 December 2020

Fair value measurement using
 

Quoted
prices in

active
markets

Significant
observable

inputs

Significant
unobservable

inputs
Total(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Pledged deposits, non-current portion – 2,995 – 2,995
     

As at 31 December 2019

Fair value measurement using 
Quoted

prices in
active

markets

Significant
observable

inputs

Significant
unobservable

inputs
Total(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Pledged deposits, non-current portion – 3,879 – 3,879
     



FOUNDER HOLDINGS LIMITEDAnnual Report 2020 143

31 DECEMBER 2020

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits. 
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other 
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade and bills payables, which arise directly from 
its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be 
undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and equity 
price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised 
below.

Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish 
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, 
which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2020

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Due from associates 31 – – – 31
Contract assets* – – 4,771 16,317 21,088
Trade and bills receivables* – – 12,866 236,643 249,509
Financial assets included in prepayments,  

other receivables and other assets
– Normal** 39,591 – – – 39,591
– Doubtful** – 5,392 448,578 – 453,970

Pledged deposits
– Not yet past due 9,272 – – – 9,272
– Past due 693 – – – 693

Cash and cash equivalents
– Not yet past due 363,785 – – – 363,785

      

413,372 5,392 466,215 252,960 1,137,939
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)
As at 31 December 2019

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Simplified
approach

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Due from associates 31 – – – 31
Contract assets* – – 7,093 17,334 24,427
Trade and bills receivables* – – 4,385 214,282 218,667
Financial assets included in prepayments,  

other receivables and other assets
– Normal** 53,084 – – – 53,084
– Doubtful** – 5,057 428,450 – 433,507

Pledged deposits
– Not yet past due 13,233 – – – 13,233
– Past due 999 – – – 999

Cash and cash equivalents
– Not yet past due 553,866 – – – 553,866

      

621,213 5,057 439,928 231,616 1,297,814
      

*	 For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the 
provision matrix is disclosed in notes 19 and 20 to the financial statements, respectively.

**	 The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when 
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank 
borrowings with floating interest rates.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, no interest-bearing bank borrowings bore interest at floating rates.
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity 
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade and bills receivables) and projected cash flows from 
operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 
overdrafts, bank loans and lease liabilities. In addition, banking facilities have been put in place for contingency 
purposes.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual 
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Within 1 year 
or on demand Over 1 year

2020
Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Trade and bills payables 67,950 – 67,950
Financial liabilities included in other payables and 

accruals 226,555 – 226,555
Lease liabilities 1,724 438 2,162
    

296,229 438 296,667
    

Within 1 year 
or on demand Over 1 year

2019
Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Trade and bills payables 62,040 – 62,040
Financial liabilities included in other payables and 

accruals 224,113 – 224,113
Lease liabilities 1,979 460 2,439
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 108,224 – 108,224
    

396,356 460 396,816
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in the value of individual 
securities. The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (note 23) and equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (note 
16) as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019. The Group’s listed investments are listed on the ACE Market 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, New York Stock Exchange, Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Taiwan Stock 
Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 1% change in the fair values of the Group’s principal equity 
investments, with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at 
the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, for the equity investments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income/the available-for-sale equity investments, the impact is deemed to be on the fair value reserve and 
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve, respectively.

Carrying
amount of

investments

Increase/
(decrease) in

profit before tax

Increase/
(decrease) in

equity*
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

2020
Investments listed in:

Malaysia – Equity investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 1,902 – 19

2019
Investments listed in:

Malaysia – Equity investments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income 2,641 – 26

*	 Excluding retained profits.
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39.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital 
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

The Group monitors capital using a debt to equity ratio, which is interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities 
divided by total equity attributable to owners of the parent. The debt to equity ratios as at the end of the reporting periods 
were as follows:

31 December 31 December
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 28) – 107,093
Lease liabilities (note 14) 2,162 2,439
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 1,046,250 941,382

Debt to equity ratio 0.2% 11.6%
   

40.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Company received a notification letter from Peking Founder on 25 January 2021, regarding a civil order received 
by the administrator of Peking University Founder Group Company Limited from The First Intermediate People’s Court of 
Beijing on 22 January 2021. Pursuant to the civil order, the deadline for the submission of the restructuring proposal will 
be extended to 30 April 2021.

The Company received the “Notification letter in relation to determination of restructuring investors of Peking Founder” from 
the administrator of Peking University Founder Group Company Limited on 29 January 2021. It is stated in the notication 
letter that after multiple rounds of competitive selection, it is finally determined that Zhuhai Huafa Group Co., Ltd. (on 
behalf of Zhuhai State-owned Assets), Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. and Shenzhen SDG Group 
Co., Ltd.* formed a consortium as investors of restructuring of Peking Founder. In the next step, the administrator of Peking 
University Founder Group Company Limited will proceed the signing of investment agreements and drafting of restructuring 
proposals in accordance with the laws.

*	 For identification purpose only
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41.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 559,088 559,088
   

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 1,129 1,127
Cash and cash equivalents 1,088 1,070
   

Total current assets 2,217 2,197
   

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 1,659 1,837
   

NET CURRENT ASSETS 558 360
   

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 559,646 559,448
   

NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Due to a subsidiary 212,090 208,849
   

Net assets 347,556 350,599
   

EQUITY
Issued capital 119,975 119,975
Reserves 227,581 230,624
   

Total equity 347,556 350,599
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41.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share
premium
account

Contributed
surplus

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

At 1 January 2019 53,597 448,209 (265,687) 236,119
Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (5,495) (5,495)
     

At 1 January 2020 53,597 448,209 (271,182) 230,624
Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (3,043) (3,043)
     

At 31 December 2020 53,597 448,209 (274,225) 227,581
     

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value of the shares of Founder HK acquired 
pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 31 March 2000 over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in 
exchange therefor. Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended), the Company may make distributions to its 
shareholders out of the contributed surplus in certain circumstances.

42.	 APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2021.
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Location Use Tenure

Percentage
of interest

attributable
to the Group

    

Units 1, 2a, 2b, 3a, 3b, 4a, 4b, 5, 6a,
6b, 7a, 7b, 11b and 12 on 14th Floor
Cable TV Tower
9 Hoi Shing Road
Tsuen Wan
New Territories
Hong Kong

Office premises/
warehouse for rental

Medium term lease 100

Office car parking space
P38 on 3rd Floor
Cable TV Tower
9 Hoi Shing Road
Tsuen Wan
New Territories
Hong Kong

Car parking space
for rental

Medium term lease 100

Residential car parking space
No. 324 on Podium Level 2
Rhine Garden
38 Castle Peak Road
Sham Tseng
New Territories
Hong Kong

Car parking space
for rental

Medium term lease 100

Flat B, 29th Floor, Block 3
Locwood Court
Kingswood Villas
1 Tin Wu Road
Tin Shui Wai
Yuen Long
New Territories
Hong Kong

Residential premises
for rental

Medium term lease 100
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Location Use Tenure

Percentage
of interest

attributable
to the Group

    

Flat B, 8th Floor, Block 2 and
car parking space
No. 60 on Level 1
Dragon Inn Court
9 Tsing Ha Lane
Tuen Mun
New Territories
Hong Kong

Residential premises
and car parking space
for rental

Medium term lease 100

Flat D, 12th Floor, Block 2
Belvedere Garden
Phase 2
620 Castle Peak Road
Tsuen Wan
New Territories
Hong Kong

Residential premises
for rental

Medium term lease 100

Units 1-7-1, 8-7-1
No.126 Yuzhou Road
Jiulongpo District
Chongqing
China

Office premises
for rental

Medium term lease 100

6th Floor, Block 4
Youyi Garden
52 Kaixuan Road
Kuancheng District
Changchun
China

Residential premises
for rental

Medium term lease 100
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out below.

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

REVENUE 936,545 1,058,424 1,058,857 993,493 1,035,410
      

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 53,897 (238,790) 87,511 89,829 40,180
      

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 53,897 (238,790) 87,336 89,836 40,235
Non-controlling interests – – 175 (7) (55)

      

53,897 (238,790) 87,511 89,829 40,180
      

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

TOTAL ASSETS 1,515,608 1,509,142 1,811,099 1,823,382 1,583,047
TOTAL LIABILITIES (469,358) (567,760) (625,398) (684,248) (610,128)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS – – – (184) (179)

      

1,046,250 941,382 1,185,701 1,138,950 972,740
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